**Evidence** Paper

# NO EDUCATION, NO PROTECTION

What school closures under COVID-19 mean for children and young people in crisis-affected contexts







Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies

#### Acknowledgments:

This report has been researched and authored primarily by Dr. Leanne M. Cameron, with contributions from Nidhi Kapur and Nidia Aviles Nunez, and technical support from the Proteknôn Foundation, including Brisna Mantilla and Mohammed Alrozzi.

INEE and The Alliance wish to extend particular thanks to all those who gave their time and expertise to inform the case studies. Their knowledge of education and/or child protection, together with their detailed insights into specific country contexts, have allowed the rich descriptions and analysis contained in the report.

Thanks also go to Mark Chapple, Hani Mansourian. and Dr. Kate Moriarty, who provided valuable input and feedback, with additional thanks to Dean Brooks and Audrey Bollier. Special thanks to the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation for their financial support for this work.

Copy editing was provided by Dody Riggs. Design was provided by 2D Studios.

#### **Publishers:**

Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies (INEE) c/o International Rescue Committee 122 East 42nd Street, 12th floor New York, NY 10168 United States of America

The Alliance for Child Protection for Humanitarian Action (The Alliance) c/o UNICEF 3 UN Plaza New York, NY 10017 United States of America

INEE and The Alliance © 2021

#### **Suggested Citation:**

Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies (INEE) and the Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action. (2021). No education, no protection: What school closures under COVID-19 mean for children and young people in crisis-affected contexts. New York, NY

### License:

This document is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0. It is attributed to the Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies (INEE) and the Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action (The Alliance).



**Cover image:** Uganda, 2020, Aggrey Nyondwa, World Vision

# **About the Publishers**

The Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies (INEE) is a global open network of members who are working together within a humanitarian and development framework to ensure that all individuals have the right to a quality, safe, relevant, and equitable education. INEE's work is founded on the fundamental right to education.

The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action (The Alliance) is a global network of operational agencies, academic institutions, policymakers, donors, and practitioners. It supports the efforts of humanitarian actors to achieve high-quality and effective child protection interventions in all humanitarian contexts. The Alliance achieves this primarily by facilitating inter-agency technical collaboration, including the production of technical standards and tools, on child protection in all humanitarian contexts.

Both networks are actively working together to promote integration and collaboration across education in emergencies and child protection in humanitarian action.

# **Table of Contents**

Acronyms	_ 5
Executive Summary	_ 6
Introduction: The impulse to close schools	_ 9
1.1 A brief note on methodology	_ 10
School Closures: Obstructing educational quality	11
2.1 Loss of academic and social and emotional learning opportunities	16
2.2 Loss of formal social services available through schools	16
2.3 Loss of informal social amenities and safeguards	16
2.3.1 Rising inequality in the availability of education resources	16
Child Protection Risks: Escalating exposure to harm	19
3.1 Children and young people at home: Psychosocial effects	20
3.2 Violence against children and young people in the home	21
3.3 Online risks	. 23
3.4 Child labor	23
3.5 At-risk populations	23
3.5.1 Risks faced by girls and young women	. 23
3.5.2 Risks faced by children and young people with disabilities	23
3.5.3 Risks faced by LGBTQI youth	23
3.5.4 Risks faced by children and young people on the move	. 23
3.5.5 Children associated with armed forces or armed groups	23
Section 4: Case Studies: Country-specific highlights from around the world	27
4.1 Case study: Colombia	_ 10
4.1.1 Country context	_ 10
4.1.2 Education during COVID-19	_ 10
4.1.3 Child protection: Risks and response	_ 10

4.2 Case study: Democratic Republic of the Congo	10
4.2.2 Impact on education	10
4.2.3 Child protection risks and response	10
4.2.4 Moving forward: Capitalizing on opportunities created by crisis	10
4.3 Case study: Lebanon	10
4.3.1 Country context	10
4.3.2 Education under lockdown	10
4.3.3 Child protection	10
4.3.4 Moving forward: Finding structure	10
4.4 Case study: Rwanda	10
4.4.1 Country context	10
4.4.2 Impact on education	10
4.4.3 Impact on child protection	10
4.4.4 Moving forward: COVID-19 as a catalyst for change in Rwanda $\_$	10
4.5 Case study: Sri Lanka	10
4.5.1 Country context	10
4.5.2 Education under COVID-19	10
4.5.3 Impact on child protection	10
4.5.4. Looking ahead: The need for leadership and evidence	10
Moving Forward	40
5.1 Concluding observations: Returning to school—or not	10
5.2 Recommended next steps: In the immediate and long term	10
5.2.1. Recommendations for Response and Recovery	10
5.2.2. Recommendations for Building Resilience	10
References	44

# Acronyms

CEFM         CEPAL         DRC         EVD         FGM/C         GBV         HIV         HRW         IDP         ILO         INEE         INGO         IRC         UGBTQI         LGBTQI         LMIC         MHPSS         MINEDUC         NGO         NRC         OECD         PSS         PTSD         SARS         SEL         SGBV         UN NDP         UNESCO         UNHCR         UNOCHA         WASH	<ul> <li>Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action</li> <li>Child, early, and forced marriage</li> <li>United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean</li> <li>Democratic Republic of the Congo</li> <li>Ebola virus disease</li> <li>Female genital mutilation/cutting</li> <li>Gender-based violence</li> <li>Human Rights Watch</li> <li>Internally displaced person</li> <li>International Labour Organization</li> <li>International Rescue Committee</li> <li>Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and intersex</li> <li>Low- and middle-income country</li> <li>Mental health and psychosocial support</li> <li>Ministry of Education, Republic of Rwanda</li> <li>Non-governmental organization</li> <li>Norwegian Refugee Council</li> <li>Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development</li> <li>Psychosocial support</li> <li>Social and emotional learning</li> <li>Sexual and gender-based violence</li> <li>United Nations Development Programme</li> <li>United Nations Children's Fund</li> <li>United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs</li> <li>water, sanitation, and hygiene</li> <li>World Health Organization</li> </ul>
WASH	<ul> <li>United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs</li> <li>water, sanitation, and hygiene</li> <li>World Health Organization</li> <li>Worst forms of child labor</li> <li>World Food Programme</li> </ul>

# **Executive Summary**

Schools worldwide offer interconnected formal and informal services to children and young people. These services focus not only on academic achievement but on social, emotional, psychological, and physical health and well-being. By providing physical protection and oversight, daily routines, and stability, as well as services for health, nutrition, sanitation, and other more specialized needs, education can both sustain and save lives, particularly in crisis-affected, post-crisis, and refugee-hosting countries. Access to quality education in crisis-affected contexts provides hope for a better future by equipping children and young people with the tools they need to reach their full potential and experience life-long success. With the rapid closure of schools across the world in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, children and young people, especially those in crisis-affected contexts, have lost an important space that offered them stability, even as the environment around them grew ever more uncertain. The economic shocks caused by COVID-19 have had devastating consequences by compounding the poverty and food insecurity many families were already facing, including those in contexts enduring pre-existing challenges. The mental health of adults and children alike has deteriorated as they have been confined to their homes; government and non-government agencies alike have reported a significant increase in violence and other threats that specifically target children and young people.

Drawing from research and experience on previous infectious disease outbreaks and an emergent body of work from the current COVID-19 pandemic, this report highlights the primarily negative effects resulting from the combination of sudden school closures and restricted access to and availability of services, social networks, and other protective facilities for children and young people living in crisis-affected contexts. The consequences of school closures on education and child protection can be categorized into three principal areas.

## LOSS OF LEARNING AND IMPEDIMENTS TO PROVIDING INCLUSIVE, EQUITABLE, QUALITY EDUCATION

School closures are having a significant negative influence on academic attainment and on social and emotional learning (SEL). To mitigate the loss of face-to-face instruction, education stakeholders have attempted to rapidly disseminate **online and other distance learning resources**, including lessons offered on the internet, television, and radio, as well as printed study materials. Analysis of these global efforts has produced several key findings:

- The content and quality of distance education varies widely, even within a country, and children's ability to engage in learning depends heavily on the resources and support available in individual households.
- Many learners are struggling to access distance learning options, due to **barriers related to** information and communications technology, infrastructure, and digital literacy.

- **Challenges in access to and the availability of education** have been exacerbated for children and young people living in crisis-affected and post-crisis contexts, as well as those from lower socio-economic backgrounds.
- Accessibility for children and young people with disabilities has been extremely limited across available distance learning platforms, many of which were not designed to be inclusive.
- Other groups of children and young people have also been marginalized; girls in particular are less able to engage with the distance education offered, due to their household duties.
- Across contexts, **parental engagement**—including their individual availability, level of education, ability or willingness to support their children's learning at home while juggling multiple priorities—is a significant factor in the success or failure of remote learning modalities.
- Without daily face-to-face contact with teachers, children and young people lose not only their **teachers' pedagogical expertise in facilitating participation and engagement with the content,** including SEL, they also lose **dependable routines and protective oversight.**

### NEGATIVE IMPACT ON CHILD WELL-BEING AND HEALTHY DEVELOPMENT

Schools are hubs for social services beyond academic learning, many of which encourage the enrollment and retention of children and young people who might otherwise be excluded from education. Critical services curtailed or lost due to school closures include the following:

- At the peak of school closures, an estimated **396 million children and young people worldwide lacked access to school-based nutrition and nutritional supplement programs,** which both combat malnutrition and incentivize parents to enroll their children in school, especially girls.
- Children and young people with disabilities have lost access to specialized or rehabilitative care. This encompasses differentiated academic support and clinical services, which these children and young people disproportionately require. Outside the schools, such services are out of reach for families living in poverty.
- Children and young people lack access to the formal **mental health and psychoso**cial support (MHPSS) services often provided in schools; integrating these services into the school day prevents stigmatization of those with mental health issues and "normalizes" the healing process, in particular for refugee children and young people.
- School closures mean children and young people have lost important **informal social amenities and safeguards**, many of which are difficult to quantify yet are crucial to ensuring children's and young people's well-being and healthy development. Relationships with their peers and teachers can promote positive mental health, and the schools provide entry points into social networks for both pupils and their parents. This is particularly important for marginalized groups, such as lesbian, gay, transgender, queer, and/or intersex (LGBTQI) youth.

## AMPLIFIED CHILD PROTECTION RISKS AND HARMS EXPERIENCED BY CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Schools aim to provide **physical and emotional security and dependable routines** for children, young people, and their families, especially in crisis-affected nations. During school hours, children are productively occupied, and they are supervised by teachers and school administrators who have **safeguarding** responsibilities. During the lockdowns, the home or community has not been a place of safety for many children and young people, thus the **child protection risks** have multiplied, compounded by growing economic uncertainty, health-related concerns, and other domestic burdens:

- There is growing evidence that dealing with a lack of routine and the structured activity schools provide creates negative feelings among children and young people, including a sense of isolation, all of which have **severe effects on their mental health**, particularly for those with existing MHPSS needs.
- Research across child protection agencies worldwide shows a significant decrease in the availability of social support services, even as hotlines report increasing instances of sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV), child abuse, child labor, and other forms of exploitation and neglect.
- In situations of armed conflict, the absence of school has deprived children and young people of the incentives that help them avoid enlisting in the armed forces. This creates a heightened risk of the **recruitment and use of children and young people by armed forces and armed groups,** which disproportionately target boys.
- As families suffer pandemic-related economic shocks, children and young people are more vulnerable to engaging in **hazardous and exploitative labor.**
- **Refugee children and young people** are often those most educationally and economically deprived. This includes having limited access to formal education, fewer opportunities for remote learning, and a higher risk of abandoning their education to enter the workplace.
- Evidence suggests that there have been significant setbacks in recent progress toward gender equality, especially for girls, who are more likely to report that household duties prevent them from engaging in remote learning. Confronted with home confinement in a context of economic uncertainty, girls—especially adolescents—are at increased risk of **child, early, and forced marriage (CEFM)** and other forms of SGBV. Moreover, because schools are closed, which limits monitoring and reporting, cases of **female genital mutilation and cutting (FGM/C)** are on the rise since the start of the pandemic.
- With schools closed, children and young people with disabilities face acute risks. Their need for care at home may put additional stress on parents or caregivers accustomed to the support offered through the schools, and experts warn of increasing **abuse and neglect of children and young people with disabilities.**
- Across all groups, the abuse suffered during school closures will likely have **long-term consequences:** in addition to causing significant mental health issues, sexual abuse can lead to sexually transmitted infections, unwanted pregnancies, and life-threaten-ing complications while giving birth.

In sum, school closures have been shown to have a hugely negative impact on children and young people, immediately and in the long-term.

Looking ahead, the situation for vulnerable children and young people worldwide remains fragile. Before the pandemic, 127 million children and young people of primary and secondary

school age were already out of school. The outbreak of COVID-19 put additional stress on already over-extended and under-resourced education systems around the world. Context-specific risks may prevent or delay the reopening of some schools, in particular those that have been the target of attacks or used as temporary housing during the crisis. However, even as schools reopen, there is the risk that children and young people from some marginalized populations will be **excluded from re-enrollment** or opt out of attending school because they need to work or have been married and/or become pregnant. Others will struggle to re-engage with schooling as they deal with the long-term effects of violence, abuse, neglect, and exploitation.

### RECOMMENDATIONS

When confronted with the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and future infectious disease outbreaks or other emergencies, policymakers must ensure that children and young people remain squarely at the center of their decision-making. Before future school closings occur, officials must strive to understand and weigh up the multitude of risks children and young people can and will face, along with the wider public health prerogatives.

The following key recommendations outline how best to respond to and recover from COVID-19 school closures and to prepare for future shocks:

- Prioritize the **identification of the most marginalized children and young people** in each context, then address the systemic barriers that prevent their engagement with education and access to protective services.
- To prevent children and young people from "falling through the cracks," **strengthen child protection and education systems and improve collaboration between stake- holders,** prioritizing support for children and young people already out of school.
- As schools reopen, **emphasize outreach to the children and young people from marginalized and less-visible groups,** who are most at risk of not returning or were already out of school.<sup>1</sup>
- As schools reopen, prioritize access and well-being over rapid academic catch-up.
- Moving forward, provide **ongoing training and strengthen the capacity of teachers and school administrators,** as well as parents and caregivers, to support children's and young people with their at-home learning, and their wider MHPSS needs.
- Provide more **equitable remote learning** by strengthening education systems, reviewing existing materials and media, and developing new materials that are appropriate, learner centered, and useful for at-home learning.
- Ensure that scholastic materials and distance learning modalities feature **inclusive options for children and young people with a variety of disabilities.**
- Engage in **ongoing planning and preparedness** for future school closures in emergency situations, including improving water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) facilities, reducing class sizes to accommodate social distancing, and improving resiliency and readiness to shift to distance modalities.
- Increase predictable financing for education and child protection, including humanitarian and development aid.

<sup>1</sup> This report does not recommend how to reopen schools safely; for this, governments, local education authorities, and school leadership should follow global guidance provided by the UN at

# **1. Introduction:** The impulse to close schools

In early 2020, governments across the globe attempted to mitigate the spread of the novel coronavirus, COVID-19, by enforcing unprecedented national lockdowns and travel bans. As with other social amenities and spaces, schools were closed to limit the spread of the virus. By April 2020, UNESCO (2020f) estimated that 90% of students worldwide, an estimated 1.6 billion children and young people, were affected by school and university closures. In many countries, the decision to close schools was taken rapidly and reflexively, and without measures in place to ensure that learning could continue or that school resources and services would reach those who needed them most.

The scale and rapidity of decisions to shutter schools have been strongly contested by humanitarian actors. The Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies and the Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action (INEE & ACPHA, 2020) have argued previously that decisions to both close and reopen schools need to balance public health risks with the negative effects on the academic progress and general welfare of children and young people. Schools offer more than academic learning; they also provide stability, routine, and important protective functions. Both the formal and informal services located within schools attend to all aspects of children's and young people's development and well-being. In crisis-affected contexts, much progress has been made in the past two decades to ensure that education is prioritized as a necessary and critical aspect of response in emergency situations, thus the closure of schools and ensuing lack of access to quality education are a setback to efforts to embed education in humanitarian response (INEE, 2010).

For those in crisis-affected contexts, school closures have added layers to existing challenges and humanitarian crises, and the resources of struggling families have been stretched farther than ever. As children and young people were suddenly confined to their homes, parents and caregivers were unprepared to balance full-time schooling and caregiving needs with their other responsibilities. Some coped with widespread job loss, under-employment, and the resulting decrease in household income (ILO, 2020c). In a large-scale survey conducted in 46 low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), including fragile contexts and those affected by crisis, 77% of households reported losing income since the start of the pandemic, with 30% losing "most" and 19% losing "all" of their income; the loss of jobs and income has been experienced most keenly by women, and by heads of households with disabilities (Loperfido & Burgess, 2020). As they faced increasing poverty, families cut back on the quality and quantity of their food; on top of the 135 million people already suffering from acute hunger, an additional 130 million were expected to be added to that number by the end of 2020 (Anthem, 2020). For parents and other primary caregivers worldwide, then, it is unsurprising that The Lancet Infectious Diseases

("The Intersection of COVID-19," 2020) reported that COVID-19 would have a "monumental" (p. 1217) impact on mental health and well-being, with ongoing negative effects for children and young people. The article stated that this would compound the impact on those already suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and other crisis-related mental health and psychosocial challenges.

Within the current environment of increasing uncertainty, this report examines the effects school closures are having on education and child protection outcomes for children and young people in crisis-affected nations and refugee-hosting LMICs. School closures have clearly impeded academic progress (UNESCO, 2020a) but, perhaps more significantly, they pose an acute risk to children's and young people's physical, emotional, and mental health and protection (INEE & ACPHA, 2020). Without the stability of a school environment and access to the accompanying social and government resources, the risks are greatest for children and young people living in crisis-affected contexts who are members of already marginalized groups, such as migrants, refugees, and other forcibly displaced individuals; girls and young women; ethnic and other minorities; young people who are LGBTOI: children and young people who live on the street, have disabilities. and/or are in institutions; children who live in child-headed or single-parent households, and/or in families whose head of household has a disability. Children and young people already out of school—currently estimated at 127 million across crisis-affected countries, or half of all out-of-school children and young people worldwide (INEE, 2020a)have been pushed even further to the margins. Across the world, gmid severe disruption of child protection services (UNICEF, 2020e), organizations have reported a significant increase in calls to hotlines and helplines—a rise of 80% in Venezuela (Save the Children, 2020f), 40% in Sri Lanka (UNICEF, 2020a), and "by the hundreds" in Rwanda (Iliza, 2020). The International Rescue Committee (IRC, 2020a) has warned that additional cases are going unreported; in some conflict-affected nations, home confinement and a lack of privacy may prevent victims and survivors from reporting their abuse.

This report provides a comprehensive analysis of the emerging evidence and supports the need to address the increasing inequalities and risks marginalized children and young people in crisis-affected contexts are facing due to COVID-19 school closures. From the evidence presented in this report, it is clear that school closures have significantly rolled back progress in achieving Sustainable Development Goal 4; namely, to ensure "inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all," including "complete free, equitable and quality primary and secondary education" (UNDP, 2015). The evidence presented here provides further support for the argument put forth by INEE and ACPHA (2020): that school closures must be based on contextualized and balanced decision-making that centers on the well-being of children and young people. This report seeks to provide an accessible review that will inform the policy and practice of governments, donors, and the wider community of education and child protection stakeholders as they respond to and recover from the effects of the current pandemic, and in planning to respond to future infectious disease outbreaks.

### **1.1 A BRIEF NOTE ON METHODOLOGY**

This report was researched and written between October and December 2020. At the time of writing, there was little available peer-reviewed research on the pandemic and related school closures, largely due to the restrictions around social contact and conventional face-to-face research methodologies (Berman, 2020; INEE, 2020b). Research from previous infectious disease outbreaks, such as the 2014-2016 Ebola virus disease (EVD) epidemic in West Africa that triggered extensive school closures and quarantines, provides some empirical data on the impact an epidemic can have on children and young people and identifies particular at-risk groups.

Literature reviewed for the report primarily included existing reporting, needs assessments, briefing papers, and other documentation available in English from international and local media sources, government agencies, and international organizations, supplemented by reports in Spanish, French, and Arabic.

The desk review was complemented by case studies in five contexts: Colombia, the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), Lebanon, Rwanda, and Sri Lanka. For each context, consultations were conducted with three to seven key informants. Informants were recruited via purposive sampling from INEE and ACPHA networks and consisted of representatives working in education and child protection at UN agencies, national and international non-governmental organizations (NGOs and INGOs), and local civil society organizations.

## **2. School Closures:** Obstructing educational quality

Schools are a focal point for delivering a quality education, which INEE (2010) defines as "affordable, accessible, gender-sensitive and [responsive] to diversity" (p. 122). However, a quality education involves more than just academic learning; it pays attention to all aspects of children's and young people's social, emotional, psychological, and physical health and well-being. In crisis-affected contexts, schools provide additional essential services, such as protecting students from physical dangers within the crisis environment, establishing dependable routines and providing stability to support psychosocial recovery, as well as functioning as an entry point for access to health, nutrition, sanitation, and other specialized support services—all of which ultimately contribute to the stability of otherwise uncertain societies. All of these elements interact to underpin and strengthen the learning and social and emotional growth that takes place in the classroom.

INEE (2010, p. 122) lists seven aspects of quality education:

- 1. A safe and inclusive learner friendly environment
- 2. Competent, well-trained teachers who are knowledgeable in the subject matter and pedagogy
- 3. An appropriate, context-specific curriculum that is comprehensible and culturally, linguistically, and socially relevant for the learners
- 4. Adequate and relevant materials for teaching and learning;
- 5. Participatory methods of instruction and learning processes that respect the dignity of the learner;
- 6. Appropriate class sizes and teacher-student ratios; and
- 7. An emphasis on recreation, play, sport and creative activities in addition to areas such as literacy, numeracy and life skills.

INEE (2010, p. 3) further notes that education provides critical intangible value: "Schools and other learning spaces are often at the heart of the community and symbolize opportunity for future generations and hope for a better life." For children and young people in crisis-affected contexts, education provides hope for a better future and access to opportunities that may break the cycle of intergenerational poverty. With schools closed, all of these aspects of quality education—the tangible and intangible, formal and informal services—are lost.

# 2.1 LOSS OF ACADEMIC AND SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL LEARNING OPPORTUNITIES

As schools around the globe began to close, education authorities worked to provide for just one aspect of the educational experience—academic learning—without giving much attention to the social and emotional engagement the school environment provides. The World Bank (Azevedo et al., 2020) and UNESCO (2020a) have concentrated on the devastating effects school closures have on children's and young people's learning and academic progress. After conducting a survey of education ministries, UNESCO, UNICEF, and the World Bank (2020) found that children each lost an average of 47 days of face-to-face instruction. Emerging data show a concerning effect of lost instruction on the foundational skills of children ages 9-11: out-of-school children were 11%-43% more likely to lose foundational reading skills than those who were still attending classes face-to-face during the pandemic (Conto et al., 2020). Learning losses not only affect a child's or young person's ability to progress through school and reach their full potential, they also have long-term economic consequences. The Inter-American Development Bank (Busso & Munoz, 2020) reported in previous research that adults who were subjected to an 88-day teacher strike as children experienced a subsequent 2.99% reduction in labor market earnings and a decline in their hourly wages as adults.

With schools closed, children and young people lost consistent face-to-face educational engagement. Providing ongoing access to learning is dependent on multiple factors, including the distance modalities offered by the school system, information and communications technology literacy and availability, and parental engagement. In a Save the Children (2020) survey of 31,683 parents and caregivers and 13,477 children and young people aged 11 to 17 in 46 countries, 96% of the adult and child respondents reported that their schools were completely closed, with no face-to-face or remote learning; 2% reported having access to remote learning; and another 2% indicated that face-to-face schooling had continued (Gordon et al., 2020). For many, schooling shifted from formal, sequenced, teacher-led lessons to a highly individualized effort that was dependent on the resources available in each household.

There is great variation across contexts in terms of which learning materials were made available to children and young people, and when. UNICEF reports that, out of 127 countries surveyed, 73% maintained online platforms for education delivery (Dreesen et al., 2020). The quality and nature of these online offerings varied: some involved real-time lessons for discrete class groups (using programs such as Zoom for remote teaching), and some referred learners to a static material repository where they could access worksheets, readings, and website links. The shift many education ministries had to make to online platforms was rapid and haphazard, especially as the widespread lockdowns began in March 2020, which highlights their lack of preparedness for an emergency of this scale. Given the bandwidth burden required for hosting or sending video files, education officials in LMICs relied on television and radio broadcasts to deliver lessons. Moreover, half of the countries surveyed had distributed paper materials to learners (Dreesen et al., 2020). The quality of this content and its suitability for each grade level has not been widely analyzed. The apparent intention of these stopgap measures was to provide some educational content and to engage children and young people in informal and extracurricular learning, but the content was not necessarily aligned with national curricular auidelines.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2</sup> A full list of distance learning modalities compiled by UNESCO is available at https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse/nationalresponses.

<sup>2.</sup> School Closures: Obstructing educational quality

Lost in this approach is the engagement that occurs in the classroom and on the school campus. Making progress toward Sustainable Development Goal 4.7, for example, calls for students to acquire the knowledge and skills needed for their "sustainable development and sustainable lifestyles, human rights, gender equality, promotion of a culture of peace and non-violence, global citizenship, and appreciate of cultural diversity and of culture's contribution to sustainable development" (UNDP, 2015). To acquire such active, embodied forms of knowledge and skill requires interaction and engagement with others. Similarly, informal SEL occurs through classroom and non-classroom interactions. Chabbott and Sinclair (2020) indicate that textbooks, like those used for home study during school closures, are not designed to encourage and promote SEL skills, so this aspect of students' overall development may also suffer setbacks.

Another significant component of quality education is lost with this isolated and individualized approach to learning: the teachers. Teachers provide a consistent learning experience and are trained to differentiate their instruction to reach a variety of ability levels within the class. In the classroom, teachers interpret learning materials and use them according to their pedagogical expertise and content knowledge, and they encourage the children and young people to participate and engage, with them and with their peers. With the school closures, 67% of respondents from the Save the Children survey reported having no contact with their teachers (Ritz et al., 2020). Without teachers to mediate the use of learning materials, the quality and quantity of children's and young people's learning depends heavily on the resources of time, money, and attention available in their homes. For early education and pre-primary students, the loss of contact with teachers and time in the classroom is especially worrying: 90% of brain development takes place before a child's fifth birthday, thus, the lack of quality pre-primary education, combined with possible harm caused by toxic stress, raises the risk of permanent cognitive impairment (cf. Zubairi & Rose, 2017).

**Technological access divides.** Even though some education systems have offered online platforms, learners in crisis-affected and low-income nations have generally lacked access; in the Save the Children survey, only 2% of respondents across the 46 sample countries had access to online learning options (Ritz et al., 2020). Web-based platforms require that both the learning provider (such as the teacher) and the learner have a consistent power source, a reliable internet connection, and a device for logging onto the internet. They also must have the digital literacy to use those platforms, as well as time and support from a caregiver. These three elements carry significant costs and, as poverty rates rise, they become significant barriers to platform access. Across much of central Africa and South Asia, for example, less than a quarter of the population has consistent internet access (Dreesen et al., 2020); many lack access due to the cost of internet access and data plans (Amnesty International, 2020; UNESCO, 2020g). In the DRC, for example, just 8% of households have internet access (ACAPS, 2020b). Households that do have access may own just one internet-enabled device, and competition for that single internet connection may be a barrier to learning (UNESCO et al., 2020).

Other distance learning modalities such as television and radio offer additional options for continued engagement with learning, yet most marginalized populations have limited access to these technologies. For example, in 2018, 85% of Burundi, Burkina Faso, and Chad lacked consistent access to a power source (UNESCO, 2020c). Because of the lack of electricity, the government and Save the Children have distributed solar-powered ra-

dios to vulnerable families in Rwanda (World Bank, 2020c) and UNICEF have provided batteries for devices in Zimbabwe (Mokwetsi, 2020). Refuaee and migrant children and young people in particular, who already may have been excluded from formal education systems in their host country, lack internet capabilities and, thus, access to distance learning opportunities, as reported for Venezuelan migrants and refugees in Colombia (UNESCO, 2020h) and Syrian and Palestinian refugee families in Lebanon (Save the Children, 2020e). From surveys conducted with 1.400 participants from refugee and internally displaced person (IDP) populations and additional surveys in 14 crisis-affected countries, the Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC, 2020) indicated challenges in accessing remote education. For example, in six provinces of Afghanistan, only 23% of survey participants had access to television, and no participants were aware of the educational channels available. There also are examples of an entire refugee population being purposely prevented from accessing the internet, such as the one million Rohingya refugees living in 34 camps in the Bangladeshi city of Cox's Bazar. The ban on sim cards and mobile services in these camps was instituted in September 2019 by the Bangladeshi government, which cited "security" reasons (McVeigh, 2019). The IRC (2020b) estimated that 300,000 Rohingya refugee children and young people lacked access to remote learning due to the internet ban, further affecting their future prospects and exposing them to increased risk of trafficking, child labor, and CEFM.

There also is evidence that both digital and non-digital offerings lack good accessibility features for children and young people with disabilities (McClain-Nhlapo, 2020). In survey results from Save the Children, 90% of the caregivers of children and young people with disabilities reported encountering obstacles to learning (Gordon et al., 2020), and World Bank (2020c) survey participants noted that education platforms often lack such features as transcripts and closed captions, screen readers, and print magnifiers. In addition, platforms that can be manipulated only with caregiver support were seen as labor intensive. Non-digital offerings provided limited accessibility for learners with sensorial impairments; only 18% of children and young people with hearing impairments were able to access sign language interpretation, and 12% with visual impairments were able to access Braille materials.

Caregivers have attempted to surmount these barriers to access and to cover additional education costs for resources. This often is done through unregulated sources, which may expose them to additional financial distress. In a survey conducted with 1,400 people in eight countries affected by conflict, 41% in both Afghanistan and Colombia indicated that they had borrowed money to cover their expenses, including education-related costs (NRC, 2020). Amnesty International (2020) reported that some Sri Lankan parents had remortgaged their houses or taken out loans at predatory rates so they could pay for the internet access and technology their children needed to continue their schooling during the pandemic.

**Family support for learning at home.** Even children and young people who have access to learning materials often require assistance in using those materials and in maintaining their motivation to learn. In many contexts, lockdowns were expected to be short-term interventions, but as "temporary" became "the new normal," parents' reactions to their increased responsibilities changed. In Rwanda, for example, temporary school closures have ended up lasting for months, and some children and young people there will not be back in the classroom until sometime in 2021. Little research has captured the shift in parental motivation over the course of the lockdown, or how responsibility for learning shifted from teachers to parents and caregivers. A key informant in Rwanda spoke of

the "culture shift" required for children to view the TV or radio as a medium for learning, rather than for entertainment. Younger children put additional demands on parents and caregivers, as they need more support for distance learning, such as supervision and assistance when using and caring for devices, and they may need closer supervision to stay on task, especially when listening to instructions on the radio.

Thus, a significant individual variable for children's and young people's learning at home is the support of household members. Caregivers themselves may lack the confidence and skills needed to provide assistance, due to their own lack of literacy or education (Chabbott & Sinclair, 2020) or their lack of comfort with distance learning tools (World Bank, 2020c). Others lack time, due to employment commitments or domestic responsibilities, such as caring for multiple children.

For children and young people in general, and children and young people with disabilities in particular, caregivers are often unable to provide the support their children need to complete their schoolwork, especially caregivers who are balancing work and other parenting duties (Gordon et al., 2020). Children and young people with disabilities again are doubly impacted; as reported above, educational materials are broadly inaccessible for those with disabilities, thus, these students require a caregiver's help to navigate websites, read texts aloud, or provide sign language interpretation.

Contextual factors also hinder family engagement in learning at home. In Lebanon, especially among refugee families already under strain from the economic crisis, political upheaval, and the August 2020 Beirut blast, parents report being unable to help with their children's schoolwork (Save the Children, 2020e). Poverty is another decisive factor in the support that children and young people receive: using data from its Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys, UNICEF (Mishra et al., 2020) reports that household wealth is a major determinant in whether a child receives support with homework; children and young people from lower income groups receive less support than their wealthier peers. During the EVD school closures in Liberia, there were reports that private tutoring was being given in homes (Rothe, 2014), thus the children and young people whose parents could afford this were able to continue receiving high-quality, teacher-led lessons. Research is needed to understand the extent to which this tutoring and "shadow education," already prevalent before the pandemic (UNESCO, 2017), continued under COVID-19, and if and how it has exacerbated existing inequalities for those who can rely only on their parents and government-distributed materials.<sup>3</sup>

Family support for learning is also evident in how parents and caregivers view at-home learning and prioritize time, such as how much time they allow their children to take from other household duties. In the Save the Children survey, more than half of child respondents indicated that they now have more chores and caregiving duties than before the COVID-19 outbreak, which prevents them from learning at home (Ritz et al., 2020). Far more girls (63%) than boys (43%) reported having an increased household burden, including caring for siblings and other children in the household; survey data from Lebanon show similar results (Save the Children, 2020e). With less time for schoolwork, girls are especially at risk of falling behind their male counterparts.

<sup>3</sup> UNESCO (2017) defines shadow education, or "private supplementary tutoring," as "activities that mirror the content of regular schooling, as well as activities that supplement schooling, such as in-depth subject coverage, training in other languages and extracurricular activities" (p. 108).

### 2.2 LOSS OF FORMAL SOCIAL SERVICES AVAILABLE THROUGH SCHOOLS

**Health and MHPSS.** UNESCO (2020c) reported that 89% of countries worldwide offer school-based health and nutrition services, including direct services or referrals to health, social, and MHPSS services (ACPHA, 2020c). For children and young people with disabilities, inclusive schools and those that provide academic support and health services such as therapy can help parents keep children and young people in the family home and out of institutions (Barriga et al., 2017). Indeed, next to the fear of losing learning time, parents and caregivers of children and young people with disabilities are most concerned with the loss of therapy and other services usually available through schools (World Bank, 2020c).

Schools also are often delivery sites for formal MHPSS interventions (see Save the Children, 2018). A review of empirical research on the delivery of MHPSS for women and children in conflict settings (Kamali et al., 2020) found that school-based interventions are effective in improving mental health outcomes. The researchers noted that school-based MHPSS interventions helped to create a non-stigmatizing environment where children and young people could participate without disruption of their daily routines. With schools closed, children and young people also have lost opportunities for SEL, which involves the development of emotional, social, interpersonal, and cognitive processes (INEE, 2016). In exploratory research around the IRC's Healing Classroom programs in Lebanon, Syrian refugee learners demonstrated some tentative progress in SEL (3EA, 2017), which indicates the potential of such initiatives and the subsequent damage their absence due to school closures could accelerate.

**School-Feedings and nutrition.** Of particular concern is the loss of meals and other school-based nutritional services, especially with the current environment of widespread unemployment, rising food prices, and increasing food insecurity (ILO & UNICEF, 2020). Most households in the Save the Children dataset reported experiencing food insecurity, with 43% saying they were "stressed" and 36% "in crisis" (Loperfido & Burgess, 2020). In NRC's (2020) survey with refugee and migrant populations across eight countries, an average of 73% of households indicated that they have cut the number of daily meals they eat since the pandemic began, including 81% in Afghanistan, 86% in Colombia, and 76% in Venezuela. In Latin America, school closures have left an estimated 85 million children and young people who regularly accessed meals at school without this service (CEPAL & UNESCO, 2020).

Also lost with school closures is the convenient and centralized gathering place schools provide for distributing food, and for recording and tracking the health progress of children at risk for various forms of malnutrition, including underweight and overweight, wasting, and nutritional deficiencies. At the peak of the school closures, the World Food Programme (WFP, 2020b, 2020d) estimated that 396 million children (47% of them girls) lacked access to school meals; at the time of writing, that number was 260 million.<sup>4</sup> The risk of being underweight and/or wasting, and the potential for dropout, is keenly experienced by girls whose parents are motivated to enroll them in school because of the food provided (Save the Children, 2020a). Distribution programs for nutrition supplements have also been disrupted by school closures: in Bhutan, for example, an increase in the

4 See WFP's real-time tracker at https://cdn.wfp.org/2020/school-feeding-map/index.html.

number of children with anemia is predicted, as programs for distributing iron and folic acid supplements have been curtailed (UNICEF, 2020d). Conversely, some children and young people are at risk of unhealthy weight gain (Fore et al., 2020), as cheap food options that are low in nutrients but high in calories replace the nutritious meals offered at school. The risk of obesity increases with confinement, as there are fewer opportunities for children to exercise; in the early stages of the COVID-19 lockdown in China, researchers noted weight gain and a loss of cardiovascular fitness among children accustomed to outdoor exercise and play at school (Wang et al., 2020).

WASH. As a place where children and young people spend significant hours of the day, schools are also a focal point for WASH access. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of handwashing and hygiene in preventing the spread of the virus. Increased water usage in Rwanda means that children have to fetch water more frequently, which prevents them from engaging in learning (Children's Voice Today/Save the Children, 2020). United Nations Rwanda (2020a) predicts increased water and sanitation costs; impoverished families unable to afford the increases will likely rely on unsafe water supplies. Moreover, schools play a key role in disseminating accurate information about disease prevention (World Bank, 2020c). A key informant in the DRC noted that this was an added service teachers could offer during the EVD outbreaks, as the communities trusted teachers more readily than health officials, especially in rural areas.

More long-term research is needed on the intersection of schooling, the formal and informal services available at school, and the risk factors for the groups presented in this report. For example, school closures have been found to lead to heightened nutritional deficiencies (UNICEF, 2020d). The literature on gender norms demonstrates that, during times of food scarcity, women and girls in some contexts are both the last to eat and the first to adopt negative coping mechanisms (Mitra & Rao, 2017). Long-term studies of malnutrition and hunger have highlighted their negative effects on children's and young people's overall health outcomes and capacity to learn (Matrins et al., 2011).

# 2.3 LOSS OF INFORMAL SOCIAL AMENITIES AND SAFEGUARDS

In addition to the formal offerings described above, schools provide a variety of informal amenities and social support services that are harder to quantify or capture. For example, schools are often conduits for the provision of less formal psychosocial support (PSS). Unstructured PSS, which differs from formal, trauma-informed mental health interventions, can provide treatment and relief for stress caused by ongoing migration, and it can be provided by people other than mental health practitioners, such as teachers or classroom aides. In nations hosting Syrian refugees, Save the Children (2018) has worked to integrate PSS into school curricula and teacher-training practices. In the schools, teachers embody pedagogical and subject expertise, but they also provide dependable routines and stability, which promotes psychosocial stability for children and young people, particularly in conflict-affected contexts (Mattingly, 2017).

Also lost with school closures are the informal social networks and face-to-face socializing that occur during and around school hours. In Save the Children's widespread survey (Gordon et al., 2020), children and young people reported that they especially miss their friends

and schoolmates, relationships that are vital to their well-being and development (Fischer et al., 2018). Those who were not able to be in touch with friends had higher rates of feeling worried (54%) and unsafe (58%) than those who did have contact (Ritz et al., 2020); these results align with reports from surveys conducting during the EVD epidemic in Sierra Leone (Risso-Gill & Finnegan, 2015). Informal support systems are especially important for LGBTQI young people, in particular those who are confined with household members who do not accept their identity and may treat them with hostility (UNESCO, 2020j). The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (2020) predicts that this will cause an increase in depression and anxiety among LGBTQI young people.

### 2.3.1 RISING INEQUALITY IN THE AVAILABILITY OF EDUCATION RESOURCES

With the economic impact of the global recession caused by COVID-19 lockdowns, experts predict that there will be a US\$77 billion shortfall in global education funding (Save the Children, 2020g). As schools reopen, the implementation of social distancing measures will strain resources. The physical capacity of the school was a significant and relevant factor during the EVD closures in Sierra Leone and Liberia; with infection prevention and control measures putting limits on their capacity, schools struggled to accommodate all previously enrolled children and young people (Santos & Novelli, 2017). In 2020, with under-resourced and overburdened public schools already strained to capacity, including overly large classes, a key informant in Rwanda indicated (see section 1.1. on methodology) that the decision was made to reopen classrooms first to exam and final year "candidate classes." Private schools supported by wealthy parents, non-governmental actors, or private interests, which were equipped to accommodate new social distancing and hygiene requirements, reopened quickly. The informant spoke of the sense of unfairness and emotional distress public school children experienced when they watched their private school neighbors attend school while they were still confined to their homes.

There is a risk that children and young people who were already out of school before COVID-19 will be overlooked as the schools struggle to reopen for their existing enrollees. Data from 2019 indicate that, prior to the COVID-19 outbreak, 127 million children and young people in crisis-affected countries were out of school; this represents half the global out-of-school population (INEE, 2020a). Those data indicate that girls are more likely to be impacted: 31% of girls and 27% of boys in crisis-affected contexts were out of school. These numbers are now expected to climb.

In Lebanon in 2018-2019, nearly 48% of Syrian and Palestinian refugee children and young people were already out of school (Haddad et al., 2020). The multiplication of crises in Lebanon is already impacting their ability to re-enroll, and even fewer enrollment slots are available in Beirut, where officials are struggling to repair schools damaged in the August 2020 blast while dealing with the closure of government-subsidized private schools. The available public school slots are given to Lebanese students, thus the Syrian and Palestinian refugee children and young people are kept from returning to school as they fail to secure enrolment.

Attacks on schools and damage to school facilities are also expected to have a negative impact on reopening efforts. In eastern DRC, school buildings have been damaged by violent acts or other uses during lockdown, and many schools lack the resources to make repairs or replace materials and furniture (ACAPS, 2020b). Similar reports from Human

Rights Watch (HRW, 2020c) indicate that schools are considered epicenters of violence, with more than 85 attacks against education in Burkina Faso, Mali, and Niger between March and May 2020, including fires, pillaging, threats, and the kidnapping and killing of students and teachers. Specific attacks in the DRC (ACAPS, 2020b) and Mali (HRW, 2020c) have targeted children and young people sitting for exams. In Yemen, an estimated 20% of schools have been rendered unusable after years of conflict; 380 schools have been attacked in the past five years, and others have been repurposed as isolation centers for COVID-19 patients (Karasapan, 2020).

**Teachers.** Atlantis Group (2020) has warned of "growing rifts" between teachers and education officials over the decisions made about school closures. Following the closures during the EVD outbreak, the supply of teachers was strained, as some had entered other professions. Some, especially those who worked in disease control, were stigmatized and suspended from teaching for fear they would spread the disease (ACAPS, 2016). Informants across the case study contexts reported that, as they worked to adapt to distance modalities while tending to their own households, teachers were exhausted and burnt out.

With the rapid shift to online and distance modalities, there were few options for providing training for teachers to catch up on digital pedagogies, and the burden has been shifted onto teachers individually. Teachers in Rwanda were pointed to an online learning platform with self-directed professional development units. Previous research on teacher-focused materials offered on that platform found that they used complex English and failed to provide much support, other than simply conveying policy directives (Cameron, 2020). A key informant in Rwanda gave examples of respected teachers, especially those teaching lower primary and pre-primary, who struggled with the transition to online platforms and decided to leave the profession entirely.

There also are examples of teachers going unpaid before and during the crisis; thus, the risk is high that teachers, in order to survive, will leave the profession and seek other employment. In Chad, 60% of community teachers have seen their wages stalled, and teachers in the Central African Republic have not been paid since the banks were closed due to COVID-19 (World Bank, 2020c). Teachers in eastern DRC went unpaid in August 2020, which led to teacher protest marches (ACAPS, 2020b). In Lebanon, key informants reported that similar concerns over interrupted wages led to teacher protests, and in Yemen, at least half the teachers have not been paid their salary regularly since 2016 (Karasapan, 2020).

## **3. Child Protection Risks:** Escalating exposure to harm

The preventative role played by education and school attendance cannot be underestimated. While schools are not always safe spaces, teachers and school personnel provide a basic level of supervision and a first line of defense for children and young people at risk of abuse, neglect, exploitation, and violence.<sup>5</sup> By addressing the root causes of harm and detecting issues of abuse early, schools play an important role in preventing the onset or a recurrence of serious harm to children and young people. While being in school is not the same as learning or having a faultless safeguard against harm, it does enable children and young people to access a quality education and take steps toward achieving well-being. This enhances their ability to learn and grow, and thus their economic potential and later ability to contribute economically, socially, and politically to their societies (INEE, 2010).

With schools closed, children and young people face increased risks. Home confinement has its challenges, as children and young people stuck at home are exposed to more risks. Moreover, because of social distancing measures and other restrictions, services and protective oversight have been curtailed, which denies children and young people access to both formal protection and important informal support networks (UNICEF, 2020e).

These increased risks layer onto other existing emergencies and security crises, especially in crisis-affected contexts. In Burkina Faso, for example, which experienced ongoing armed conflict and widespread flooding, the number of IDPs passed one million in September 2020 (ReliefWeb, 2020). COVID-19-related school closures brought one more shock to its troubled education system; the security situation had already disrupted the school calendar and teaching time. There are concerns that ongoing school closures will cause parents and children to lose their motivation to continue with their education (Coordination du Cluster Education, 2020). Additionally, sexual violence has been shown to increase in conflict zones, where the usual legal protections and routes to justice often are eroded, and criminal perpetrators have little to fear (Sidebotham et al., 2016). In Mali, with the confluence of armed conflict and the pandemic, child trafficking has increased (UNHCR, 2020).

As children and young people are rendered invisible by home confinement and school closures, there is little comprehensive data to present a full picture of the abuses and injustices suffered in countries where there are pre-existing humanitarian crises. In this section, the focus is on several distinct, intersecting areas of risk: the psychosocial effects of abuse on children and young people, the violence children and young people experience in the home, risks encountered online, and, with children and young people out of school, the risk of increased child labor.

<sup>5</sup> We recognize that schools can be spaces where children and young people experience abuse, and that teachers and other school officials can be the perpetrators (see UNESCO, 2009).

Groups particularly at risk include girls, children and young people with disabilities, children and young people on the move, LGBTQI young people, and children associated with armed forces or armed groups. The risks and injustices facing these groups are exacerbated by the closing of schools and the loss of the stability, material support, and protective oversight provided there. Other marginalized groups, such as children in institutions or living on the street, child-headed households, children in foster care, or those looked after by caregivers with disabilities or elderly guardians, do not generally appear in this report, but they are a population that require specific focus and attention for understanding school closures, as other researchers have also noted (e.g. Bakrania et al., 2020).

### 3.1 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE AT HOME: PSYCHOSOCIAL EFFECTS

Children and young people who are cut off from school and the company of people outside their household also lose access to the many services and amenities described above. Parents and caregivers are generally unprepared to help children and young people deal with the lack of structure and routine activities, negative feelings, sense of isolation, and other forms of psychological distress brought on by COVID-19, especially when already juggling caregiving, financial insecurity, and other stressors.

**Mental health and psychosocial health and well-being.** Children and young people confined to their homes have limited access to play, few recreational activities, and little interaction with their peers, all of which have a significant effect on their mental and psychosocial health and well-being. Wang et al. (2020), who studied COVID-19-related school closures in China in late 2019, state that children experienced fear, stress, frustration, boredom, and feelings of isolation when confined to their homes.

Similar trends are evident in emerging data. A Save the Children survey indicated that 83% of children and young people and 89% of caregivers reported an increase in negative feelings, which increased as schools remained closed for periods of 17 to 19 weeks (Ritz et al., 2020). Nearly half of parents surveyed (46%) reported seeing signs of psychological distress in their children, including changes in sleep and appetite and in how they handled their emotions, and more frequent aggressive behavior, all of which increased in the weeks following the school closures. In South Asia, 35% of parents in Pakistan and Afghanistan who participated in a UNICEF rapid behavioral and sentiment assessment reported similarly that their children and young people were showing signs of mental distress, and that they had been unable to access health care services (Hikmah, 2020). Finally, 63% of parents surveyed by Viamo (2020) across francophone Africa agreed that the pandemic was having significant negative repercussions for their children's mental health.

Previous research has established that quarantined children and young people suffer feelings of isolation and PTSD (OECD, 2020). In a comparative review of studies of mental health during periods of quarantine, such as during the severe acute respiratory syndrome epidemic in 2003 and the 2009 H1N1 flu pandemic, researchers noted that nearly all the studies reported negative psychological effects among both adults and children (Brooks et al., 2020). For example, one study reported that children who were quarantined scored four times higher than their non-quarantined peers for PTSD markers, and a quarter of their parents had enough symptoms to warrant a PTSD diagnosis (Sprang & Silman, 2020). Not enough research exists to establish the prevalence of PTSD and mental health challenges among children today, but there are worrying reports of a recent rise in attempted suicide by children and adults. UNICEF (2020d), which reported on interventions in cases of attempted child suicide in Bangladesh, also reported a 40% increase in suicide in Nepal, primarily among girls, as reported by police.

**Children and young people as an increased "burden."** The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD, 2020) has described the home during the COVID-19 lockdown, where all of the above factors come together, as a "pressure cooker" in which parents and caregivers are struggling to provide for their children's academic needs. This includes covering the increased costs of learning materials and additional food for their children, who have lost access to the meal programs offered at school. This all occurs while parents are balancing possible job loss, financial insecurity, worsening mental health ("The Intersection of COVID-19," 2020), and feelings of isolation and helplessness. The literature makes it evident that parents were caught unawares and had no plans in place to deal with the increased parenting roles required when the schools closed and their children were confined to the home. The differences in available resources and caregiver time and attention are another facet of growing social inequality.

Some parents and caregivers have succumbed to negative parenting strategies and abuse; others have left their children un- or under-supervised. Some parents and caregivers, whose children have limited access to learning options during lockdown, may perceive them to be unproductively engaged. This is another cause for concern, as idle children and young people often are increasingly drawn or pushed toward a whole host of harms, including child labor, CEFM, and trafficking, as well as recruitment and use by armed forces or militant groups.

# 3.2 VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN THE HOME

Mistreatment of children and young people within the home has been rising globally since the start of the COVID-19 lockdowns. Environmental factors that impact caregivers—such as heightened financial worries and stress from additional caregiving responsibilities for out-of-school children—can trigger harmful parental coping strategies. For example, an increase in corporal punishment was reported in Sierra Leone during the Ebola crisis (Fischer et al., 2018). Widespread violence against children and young people was also reported in the DRC (World Vision, 2020a) and other nations affected by Ebola, including an increase in sexual exploitation and other forms of abuse (Hallgarten, 2020).

There are still significant gaps in reporting the abuse of children and young people, which is thought to be on the rise with school closures and home confinement (Peterman & O'Donnell, 2020). As noted earlier, child protection helplines have reported a higher number of calls globe-wide, while child protection agencies have struggled to provide an adequate response. A key informant from Lebanon noted that child protection officials are using monthly or "real time" monitoring on incoming data to gain insights into current trends and to determine what services the agencies are requesting most often, rather than waiting for the results of longitudinal surveys. Save the

Children survey data provide evidence of an increase in negative or violent parenting methods, as reported by 22% of the caregivers surveyed; a further 32% of all participants reported that physical and/or verbal abuse had occurred within the home, and that children and young people who were out of school reported experiencing higher rates of abuse (Ritz et al., 2020).

### **3.3 ONLINE RISKS**

For some children and young people, confinement to the home has meant that they spend more time on online platforms for both distance learning and recreation. Parents burdened with other duties may not have time to provide adequate supervision and, as one stakeholder in Rwanda reported, they also may lack knowledge of the safeguarding tools built into devices and apps. The UK's National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children labelled the situation "a perfect storm" for increased online sexual exploitation and abuse (Grierson, 2020). Out-of-school children and young people worldwide, who may be suffering from loneliness, anxiety, or depression due to the isolation of lockdown, spend more inadequately supervised time online, which makes them especially susceptible to cyberbullying and online predators. Poverty and increased financial insecurity can also drive an increase in online commercial sex work and exploitation. especially as the internet removes the physical barriers of distance and national borders. In 2018, The Guardian reported on British pedophiles who specifically targeted children and young people in impoverished and crisis-affected contexts, such as the Philippines, Kenya, and Cambodia—all nations with high smartphone usage and guick, anonymous money transfer platforms (Kelly, 2018). But even within their existing networks, increased direct messaging between children and trusted adults, such as teachers, opens up the possibility of grooming and exploitation (Save the Children, 2020a).

## **3.4 CHILD LABOR**

ACPHA (2020b) has identified school closures as one factor contributing to increased child labor, including the worst forms of child labor (WFCL) in contexts of increased poverty and food insecurity. This "involves children being enslaved, separated from their families, exposed to serious hazards and illnesses and/or left to fend for themselves on the streets of large cities—often at a very early age" (ILO, n.d., para. 5). No comprehensive data exist to provide a complete and accurate picture of child labor in 2020, but the ILO (2020a) estimates that an additional 66 million children will be engaged in work during the COVID-19 crisis as their households try to survive. During previous economic crises, there was a link between decreased household income and increased child labor. Côte d'Ivoire's 1990 economic crisis, for example, brought a 10% drop in income, which correlated with a 5% increase in child labor and a 10% decrease in educational progress (ILO & UNICEF, 2020, p. 8).

Child labor is complex and multifaceted. Many families have previously relied on their children to work during school holidays but, as the desperation of the current economic situation requires many children and young people to contribute to family finances, there is growing evidence of an increase in child labor among vulnerable populations worldwide. A 21.5% increase in child labor was reported in the cocoa fields in Côte d'Ivoire

from March to May 2020; this was attributed to the "shock" of COVID-19 shutdowns (ICI Foundation, 2020). Stakeholders across Lebanon and Jordan also report increased child labor among refugee families that suffer from extreme poverty (Plan International, 2020). Reports from Mali indicate that school closures due to conflict and COVID-19, and parallel teacher strikes, are pushing children and young people to work in informal gold mines in areas controlled by armed groups (Global Protection Cluster, 2020). UNHCR (2020) also reports that armed groups in Mali are trafficking children and young people to work in the gold mines.

Households in which a parent or caregiver has a disability have suffered disproportionately from the loss of jobs and income (World Vision Lanka, 2020). Consequently, children and young people in these households report higher rates of employment than those in households where the breadwinner does not have a disability (Ritz et al., 2020). Previous research in Nepal indicated that children and young people whose parent has a disability and those who have lost a parent faced the highest risk for WFCL (Edmonds, 2010).

## **3.5 AT-RISK POPULATIONS**

### 3.5.1 RISKS FACED BY GIRLS AND YOUNG WOMEN

School closures have caused specific child protection risks for girls and young women. In crisis situations, girls are twice as likely as boys to be out of school, and the risks they encounter increase their likelihood of not returning to school once the crisis has passed; the risk for girls with disabilities is even greater (Gordon et al., 2020). The Malala Fund (2020) has estimated that a further 20 million girls of secondary school age will drop out of school due to the effects of COVID-19.

The risks girls face are many and varied, and the EVD school closures again serve as a guide. From 2014 to 2016, aid agencies across West Africa reported increased violence and abuse in Sierra Leone (Bandiera et al., 2018) and the DRC (World Vision, 2020a) that specifically targeted girls (Hallgarten, 2020), including a spike in transactional sex (Risso-Gill & Finnegan, 2015), CEFM, and pregnancy. When schools began to reopen, girls struggled to return; many had taken up caregiving duties when other family members got sick or died and thus were not able return to school (CARE, 2020). Structural barriers also prevented pregnant girls from continuing their studies: in Sierra Leone, the boys who got girls pregnant were allowed to continue their schooling, while visibly pregnant girls were excluded from school and from sitting for exams (Denney et al., 2015). Moreover, after giving birth, child mothers were largely unable to return to school, due to their parenting duties. It is worth noting that the law prohibiting pregnant girls from attending school was reversed at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Girls are particularly at risk of increased SGBV, intimate partner violence, and sexual exploitation and abuse during the current home confinement (Peterman & O'Donnell, 2020), which threatens to reverse nearly three decades of progress in addressing gender inequality (Save the Children, 2020d). With schools closed and other protective mechanisms made inaccessible due to the pandemic, violence against girls and young women is expected to increase, especially in conflict contexts (Kapur, 2020b). Girls with disabilities are likely to experience some of the worst abuse, including a greater increase than their

peers in physical, sexual, and emotional abuse and exploitation (Save the Children, 2020d). Girls who are working also face the secondary risk of SGBV (ILO & UNICEF, 2020) and sexual exploitation and abuse, which can lead to unwanted pregnancy and, especially for child mothers, increased health risks, such as fistula (Kapur, 2020b).

While global empirical data specific to COVID-19 might be lacking, the correlation between crisis and child marriage has been well documented (Masheka, 2020). World Vision (2020b) estimates that an additional four million girls will be forced into marriage in the next two years, due to the COVID-19 school closures; CEFM is already being reported in eastern DRC (ACAPS, 2020b) and Kenya (AMREF Health Africa, 2020). In the Bidibidi refugee settlement in Uganda, authorities reported six instances of child marriage, two forced marriages, and 19 teenage pregnancies; they also pointed out that the majority of such cases go unreported (World Vision, 2020c). World Vision (2020c) also reports that school closures have been found to increase teenage pregnancy by as much as 65%, and that an estimated one million schoolgirls from sub-Saharan Africa may be unable to return to school after the pandemic due to pregnancy.

Save the Children (2020a) predicts a global increase of FGM/C performed in the home, which is often linked with child marriage (Kapur, 2020b). Instances of FGM/C have already been reported in Somalia (Brown, 2020), while in Kenya, 58% of respondents to community surveys conducted by AMREF Health Africa (2020) indicate that FG-M/C has increased during COVID-19. This risk correlates directly with school closures, thus demonstrating the direct harm girls experience when they cannot attend school (Kapur, 2020b). 'Door-to-door' FGM, where the procedure is carried out within the home, occurred in northern Kenya and Somalia precisely because the schools were closed; because girls require time to heal from the cuts inflicted, their absence from their schools, were they still open, would have raised concern. The long-term health effects of FGM/C are dire and can include life-endangering physical and mental health complications. With children and young people confined to their homes and cut off from school oversight, this form of abuse is less likely to be detected.

Related to health more broadly, girls, and children and young people in general, have lost ready access to medication and consistent medical check-ups, as health systems currently prioritize the COVID-19 response (ILGA Europe, 2020). In Sri Lanka, 30% of survey participants have been unable to access health services; 47% with children under the age of five have not had access to maternal/child services, as transportation is either unavailable or too expensive (World Vision Lanka, 2020). Moreover, schools often provide girls with information and material support for menstruation and hygiene (WHO/UNICEF, 2020) and for sexual and reproductive health, especially about preventing pregnancy. In the Bidibidi settlement, where child mothers are stigmatized, families often are reluctant to report a pregnancy or access prenatal care, which can result in underweight births (World Vision, 2020c). With the EVD outbreaks, Fischer et al. (2018) reported a rise in risky sexual behavior among young people, who had reduced access to the relevant health information.

### 3.5.2 RISKS FACED BY CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

As indicated throughout the previous section, the loss of face-to-face schooling is keenly felt by children and young people with disabilities. Even before COVID-19, these children and young people suffered some of the highest rates of exclusion; in some countries, just 1% of children and young people with disabilities were enrolled in formal schooling (ACPHA, 2020a). Those who currently lack access to inclusive digital platforms and other distance learning offerings require increased adult support to engage in learning, which may not be available. Severe loss of social and educational attainment has been predicted globally for children and young people with disabilities (Loperfido & Burgess, 2020).

During home confinement, children and young people with disabilities face other severe protection risks. Girls with disabilities are nearly three times more likely to experience sexual violence than their peers without disabilities (Hughes et al., 2012). Both boys and girls with disabilities are more likely than their non-disabled peers to face abuse in their homes and from outside careaivers (Able Child Africa, 2020). Gender norms gaain contribute to the increased risks faced by girls with disabilities, as they often are prevented from outside recreation, which is not true of boys with disabilities. Research conducted across the globe has found that 90% of children and young people with intellectual impairments have been the victim of some form of sexual violence. Girls with sensory impairments have four times greater risk of experiencing sexual violence than their peers without disabilities (Kapur, 2020b). As if this were not enough, there are important intersections between disability, SGBV, and the prevalence of human immunodeficiency viruses (HIV) and other sexually transmitted infections. The indirect effects of sexual violence include increased rates of HIV infection and pregnancy. Mac-Seing and Boggs (2014), for example, have noted instances where women with disabilities and living with HIV become pregnant from risky or coercive sexual encounters, and then are left in "monoparental and precarious situations."

When children and young people with disabilities are removed from school and confined to the home, their caregivers are better able to hide abuse, given the lack of school oversight and limited access to health care options, which leaves fewer avenues for signs of abuse to be detected or reported (Able Child Africa, 2020; UNESCO, 2020j). The World Bank (2020c) reports that, with the COVID-19 lockdowns, children and young people in institutional care were sent back to their homes, where the families often had little time to prepare to care for them. Such children and young people who live in a charged home environment are especially vulnerable to neglect and abuse, as caregivers may be unable to provide for their special needs.

As schools begin to reopen, there are specific concerns about children and young people with disabilities. As a population largely out of school in normal times, they can be the "hardest to reach" (UNESCO, 2020c, p. 72) and thus may fail to be re-enrolled, which will put them at particular risk for exclusion and dropout. Parents in West Africa were reluctant to allow children and young people with disabilities to return to school after the Ebola crisis, fearing they would be at increased risk of infection (Hallgarten, 2020). Discrimination and entrenched beliefs about disability also may curtail re-enrollment when education resources are strained. Humanity and Inclusion (2020b) indicates that, during the EVD crisis, it was particularly difficult to overcome assumptions that it was a "waste of resources" to educate children and young people with disabilities.

### 3.5.3 RISKS FACED BY LGBTQI YOUTH

Worldwide, people who are perceived to be or identify as LGBTQI have been blamed for the COVID-19 pandemic. The UN High Commissioner of Human Rights cites "an increase in homophobic and transphobic rhetoric" (International Bar Association's Human Rights Institute, 2020, p. 5). LGBTQI young people are known to face abuse and derision within their homes, and they are among those most vulnerable during disasters (UN Women, 2020). There is some evidence of a rise in GBV, sexual abuse, and exploitation of queer youth (UNESCO, 2020j) during the COVID-19 school closures. However, as noted by a key informant in Sri Lanka, it is often difficult to account for the risks faced by the LGBTQI youth population, as home confinement gives them another reason to hide or suppress their identity. Researchers may focus instead on more visible risk groups within the LGBTQI population, such as young people engaged in sex work, who reported increased abuse during the lockdown in Sri Lanka (Phakathi, 2020).

### 3.5.4 RISKS FACED BY CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE ON THE MOVE

For refugees, migrants, and IDPs worldwide, the stressors of the pandemic exacerbate existing precarity. Refugees and IDPs are particularly impacted by the economic downturn; in an NRC (2020) needs assessments, 77% of respondents reported losing work or income; of those dependent on remittances from family and friends in other countries, 62% said that they were receiving less money than before. Many lack access to a social safety net and thus adopt negative coping strategies to mitigate their poverty. Plan International Lebanon (2020), for example, reported that Syrian refugee families experiencing extreme economic precarity turned to child labor, including sending children and young people out to work in agriculture for up to ten hours each day. A key informant in Lebanon noted that, because they attract less negative attention from authorities, who prevent refugees from working, children and young people are at less risk than adults when working to help support their families.

In conflict-affected contexts, internally displaced children and young people face a particular risk of violence. In Yemen, where eight out of ten people were already in need of humanitarian assistance before the pandemic, the International Organization for Migration reported that IDPs had been the target of misinformation campaigns, with "xenophobia and xenophobic attacks being directed at displaced people" (UN News, 2020). Karasapan (2020) reported on the extreme mental and emotional toll that years of war, disease, and poverty have had on Yemen's children and young people, more than half of whom struggle with depression. Before the pandemic, 2 million Yemeni children and young people were already out of school, with an additional 3.7 million at risk of dropping out. In Somalia, internally displaced children and young people were at "high risk" for WFCL and recruitment into the Al-Shabaab terrorist group, while in Niger, communities that refused to give up their children to armed groups were forcibly displaced (Global Protection Cluster, 2020). In the DRC, internally displaced children and young people in the Ituri province are struggling to access adequate housing, and the existing strain on school resources—even the availability of desks—prevents schools from accommodating learners who are IDPs (ACAPS, 2020b).

Without the structure and stability schools provide, and as protective services are cut, refugee and internally displaced girls of pre-adolescent and adolescent age in particular

face increasing risk of abuse. UNICEF (2020d) reported on the increased abuse of girls in the overcrowded Rohingya refugee camps in Bangladesh, and Plan International (2020) offered growing anecdotal evidence of CEFM increasing, especially among Syrian refugee girls in Lebanon, as families become increasingly desperate.

### 3.5.5 CHILDREN ASSOCIATED WITH ARMED FORCES OR ARMED GROUPS

In conflict-affected contexts, given the climate of political upheaval and economic insecurity, ACPHA (2020c) warns that rates of children associated with armed forces or armed groups is likely to increase. Historically, adolescent boys have been disproportionately targeted for recruitment and use worldwide, thus their gender and age make them especially vulnerable during a crisis like the current pandemic (Kapur, 2020b). As with child labor, the push-pull factors driving children and young people to join these groups are complex, and they go beyond forcible recruitment. Some may join because of perceived economic opportunities; a key informant noted that children and young people in eastern DRC "voluntarily" join armed groups because of the economic incentives offered. With schools closed and few other avenues for work available, some join up because it gives them "something to do." Kapur (2020b) also indicated that recruits are "sometimes driven by religious radicalization or acts of vengeance, and sometimes because of the pull of guns, uniforms and feelings of power" (p. 34).

Reports have emerged on the increased presence of children and young people in armed groups, and of forcible recruitment and kidnapping occurring in eastern DRC (ACAPS, 2020b). Reports from Colombia also indicate increased recruitment (Notimérica, 2020; "¿Quién es el Responsible?" 2020), and in Mali, as many child recruitment cases were reported in the first six months of 2020 as during all of 2019 (UNHCR, 2020). With movement restricted, Monitoring and Reporting Mechanisms on grave violations against children have been curtailed; country task forces have been unable to conduct face-to-face verification missions and have had to rely on remote modalities (ACPHA, 2020c; Kapur, 2020b).

With growing evidence of increased recruitment and use of children and young people by armed groups, the role of schools in curbing this activity is key. When in session, schools provide important structure and stability and occupy pupils' time. With schools shuttered, the informal monitoring conducted by teachers and other school officials is lost, increasing the risk that children and young people will slip through the cracks (Save the Children, 2008). This is especially true in Colombia, where teachers are practiced in "spotting the tell-tale signs of grooming" by illegal armed group recruiters (Taylor, 2020). In more normal times, youth club leaders in the Central African Republic's schools help to identify at-risk children and young people, according to Plan International (2017). Attending school also offers a motivation to reintegrate children and young people back into society, as it presents a viable alternative to being used by an armed force or group. Schools also can serve as sites for release and reintegration programs and services, as has been done in Nepal (UNICEF, 2008).

# **4. Case Studies:** Country-specific highlights from

### around the world

In the five case studies that follow, the impacts of school closures and the increased risks children and young people face for abuse, neglect, and exploitation are considered within the specific country contexts of Colombia, the DRC, Lebanon, Rwanda, and Sri Lanka.

### **4.1 CASE STUDY: COLOMBIA**



### **4.1.1 COUNTRY CONTEXT**

Prior to COVID-19, Colombia experienced significant humanitarian challenges. The main challenge was the internal armed conflict between guerrilla fighters, paramilitary groups, and government forces, along with the flow of forcibly displaced populations, refugees, and migrants, primarily from Venezuela. The COVID-19 crisis arrived on the heels of socio-political instability, which included mass protests against the government in November and December 2019, which disrupted community and family life (Rodríguez Pinzón, 2020). COVID-19 has affected Colombia's most vulnerable sectors of society, especially the Afro and indigenous IDP communities that lack adequate food, shelter, and

WASH facilities (Vivanco, 2020). In Colombia, 70% of the 5.5 million IDPs have "severe or catastrophic" food insecurity (ACAPS, 2020a, p. 2), while 82% of the Venezuelan refugee and migrant families in Colombia have reduced the number of daily meals they eat. The most vulnerable groups in Colombia—including Colombian IDPs, Venezuelan refugees and migrants, Colombians returning from Venezuela, indigenous communities, and other low-income households—face overlapping crises and thus are most at risk of adopting negative coping measures, such as child labor or children and young people joining armed groups. The Lancet (Espinel et al., 2020) has identified Venezuelan migrants and refugees in Colombia as being at heightened risk for depression and anxiety, PTSD, and substance abuse disorders; Colombian IDPs face similar risks.

Schools have played an important role in addressing these inequalities; before the pandemic, for example, an estimated four million children and young people relied on school meals. Due in part to the rapid measures taken by the government at the start of the pandemic, COVID-19 school closures have heighted many existing issues, such as food insecurity, unemployment, and abuse and exploitation, such as child labor (Quintero Rivera, 2020). School closures also have had an immediate effect on how education is delivered and who has access to it (UNOCHA, 2020). School closures and increased economic stress, much of it due to the rising unemployment rate, have caused a steep rise in child labor in the region (CEPAL & UNESCO, 2020).

### 4.1.2 EDUCATION DURING COVID-19

Since March 2020, when Colombia announced its first COVID-19 case, isolation measures and lockdowns have been in place throughout the country. This meant closing all education centers and marked the beginning of virtual education delivery. Although the Ministry of National Education responded quickly to COVID-19 by providing an amended academic calendar, an adapted school meals program, distance learning opportunities, and more (World Bank, 2020a), difficulties started to emerge when the ministry began developing a plan for virtual learning. Both teachers and students lacked sufficient support networks to meet learning objectives, and access to internet connectivity, technological skills, and resources was unequal ("Desbandada en los Colegios," 2020; UNESCO, 2020b, 2020d). As such, there was a significant digital gap between rural and urban areas, and even between different urban areas. A key informant stressed that "this digital gap is one of the greatest challenges in terms of education," as children and young people from rural areas did not have the same access to instructional materials and subject aids or the required technological tools and resources as those in urban areas (Suárez & Dario, 2020). As key informants noted, these challenges increased the educational inequalities that already affected the most vulnerable groups, such as migrants, those with pre-existing learning difficulties or disabilities, and those living in poverty (CEPAL & UNESCO, 2020; UNESCO, 2020b).

The closure of schools not only interrupted learning; it disrupted the role schools play in the community as protective spaces where children and young people can access social services (UNESCO, 2020b). Evidence from key informants and the World Bank (2020a) show that school closures have increased children's and young people's risk of learning loss and dropout. This will have consequences beyond the pandemic crisis (Universidad de los Andes, 2020) for those who had to give up schooling to earn money, as it increases

the risk that they will permanently drop out ("El Cierre de Colegios," 2020). Key informants reported that, due to COVID-19, an estimated 60,000 boys and girls will not be able to return to school; of that number, just 1,252 were reported by the Ministry of National Education, indicating the gap between official reporting and what stakeholders report.

The government announced that schools would begin a staggered approach to reopening in September 2020, which was to include a blended learning approach. To open safely, schools required double shifts of security and cleaning personnel, adequate space for social distancing, and suitable WASH facilities; experts were concerned that such resources may not be readily available (UNOCHA, 2020). Key informants also expressed concerns for the future opportunities of children and young people who have not been able to access schooling, as the pandemic could have an unforeseen impact on their current education and their future participation in higher education.

### 4.1.3 CHILD PROTECTION: RISKS AND RESPONSE

Preventive health measures, including school closures and lockdowns, have presented new challenges for child protection professionals. As families are forced into closer contact, the level of stress has increased for both parents and children (Universidad de los Andes, 2020), and key informants and UNESCO (2020b) have reported that children and young people are suffering from altered routines, fear of illness, parental stress, and personal isolation. More serious concerns within the home have also increased, such as the risk of physical, emotional, and even sexual violence among children and young people, especially those between 12 and 14 years old (Fundación Renacer, 2020; OEAC-CIM, 2020; UNOCHA, 2020). As key informants indicated, not all family or community environments are safe for children and young people; some are at risk of sexual exploitation, trafficking, CEFM, or neglect. Moreover, while children and young people are not physically attending school, an increasing number are engaged in both paid and unpaid labor; within the home, unpaid domestic work is falling disproportionately on girls and women (ILO, 2020b; "El Cierre de Colegios," 2020).

There are other risks to consider that have to do with the specific context of Colombia. Historically, Colombia has seen large numbers of children and young people become engaged with armed groups, many of them forcibly recruited. In recent years, some of these young people were released and reintegrated into Colombian society as part of peace agreements. Thus, the revived widespread recruitment of children and young people into armed groups is a concerning development that threatens the five-year-old peace process (UN, 2020). Recent reports indicate that multiple armed groups and criminal bands have expanded their activities, taking advantage of the Colombian army's need to attend to the current social and health emergency (Rodríguez Pinzón, 2020). Key informants report an increase in violence, displacements associated with growing territorial struggles, and the increased recruitment of children and young people by armed groups. The risk is more extreme for children and young people from already marginalized groups, as one key informant shared: "It is a big concern for the country, for indigenous communities and Venezuelan migrant children as well, as they are recruited, and armed groups become a job offer for children."

Government actors have worked alongside NGOs to raise awareness and improve the protection of children and young people, and forms of response. They are working to improve the system of reporting and responding to sexual violence, while also initiating

projects to support caregivers and teachers. This is especially important for teachers, who play a key role in detecting and reporting cases of violence toward children and young people (Taylor, 2020). Other measures include a flexible education project that addresses xenophobia, particularly toward Venezuelan migrant children and young people and the indigenous population, and GBV. There also are protection-based projects that offer training and materials to various civil society organizations concerned with protecting children and young people (UNOCHA, 2020). Another important government initiative highlighted by key informants was the radio education strategy, which was launched on stations throughout Colombia. The programs focus on raising children's and young people's awareness of the assistance available if they should find themselves in a violent situation.

#### 4.1.4 MOVING FORWARD: FOCUS ON PREVENTION

The COVID-19 crisis has highlighted the many challenges Colombia faces in terms of child protection and the important role schools play in mitigating some of the risks children and young people face. Key informants spoke to the need to prioritize a careful reopening of the schools, as they provide many protective functions and services at the community level, such as school meal programs, health and vaccination services, recreational opportunities, and early childhood development (CEPAL & UNESCO, 2020; Universidad de los Andes, 2020). Informants note further that it is crucial that the return to school supports students who are struggling and have been unable to access quality educational materials during the lockdown. Schools therefore should avoid putting too much pressure on students in their effort to compensate for lost learning time (UNESCO, 2020d). This will require increased coordination and a rethinking of education to make it more flexible, responsive, and inclusive for all students, particularly the most vulnerable (World Bank, 2020a; UNESCO, 2020d; UNOCHA, 2020).

Along with safe and inclusive reopening, there is increasing need for greater technical capacity in underserved territories (UNOCHA, 2020), especially to address the connectivity problems key informants reported in rural areas. Increased use of mobile phones can serve as a stopgap measure to deliver certain services, such as sexual and reproductive health services (OEAC-CIM, 2020); this will help to protect and support girls at risk of teenage pregnancy, child marriage, sexual, and intra-family violence. Policies and programs also must attend to the increasing forced recruitment of children and young people by armed groups (ILO, 2020b; "El Cierre de Colegios," 2020). Finally, with child labor a great concern during and after the COVID-19 crisis, there is a significant need for political agendas to focus on child labor; stakeholders must work to provide effective prevention strategies, even as they strive to reinvigorate the economy (ILO, 2020b).

### 4.2 CASE STUDY: DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO



#### 4.2.1 COUNTRY CONTEXT

The DRC, Central Africa's most populous nation, is characterized by a near-constant state of political crisis, protracted conflict, and acute cycles of violence concentrated in the country's eastern corridor. More than 100 armed groups, both local and foreign, operate in the area, which triggers pendular patterns of mass population displacement across several provinces in eastern DRC. There are an estimated 1.5 million IDPs at any given time in the province of North Kivu alone (European Commission, 2019).

#### **4.2.2 IMPACT ON EDUCATION**

The nationwide lockdown instituted on March 19, 2020, precipitated the closure of schools across the DRC. The usual nine-month academic year was essentially cut down to five months and, according to one key informant, many schools granted promotions to the next grade "by attributing marks as formalities, rather than as a result of rigorous testing or assessment." While schools temporarily reopened to allow final-year primary, secondary, and university students to sit for their national examinations in August, full reopening for all grades did not take place until October (Ging, 2020).

Before the pandemic, at least seven million children and young people ages 5 to 17 were already out of school, including more than half of all school-age girls (UNICEF, 2020c). Girls in the DRC have lower completion rates than boys at both the primary and secondary levels, and these gender disparities continue to widen with age (UNESCO, 2020e). In September 2019, a new presidential initiative known as Operationalize Free Education massively boosted school enrollment rates, which led to increased overcrowding; each classroom held between 80 and 150 pupils, with three or more pupils per desk (USAID, 2020). Teachers have protested their increased workload and interrupted wages during the lockdown period (ACAPS, 2020b).
Within a few months of the lockdown distance learning measures were put in place (Coordination du Cluster Education, 2020). In April, Radio Okapi began hosting a UNICEF-funded learning program (UNICEF, 2020b), whereby 237 daily radio programs and 25 television channels were used to deliver lessons (ACAPS, 2020b). A key informant reported that paper-based learning materials and solar-powered radios were distributed by key education stakeholders soon after. By the time schools reopened, UNICEF (2020g) had printed and distributed approximately 450.000 exercise books, primarily in remote areas; this fell far short of its goal of 2.5 million. Another informant reported that the lack of reliable electric power, compounded by limited internet access, hampered distance learning for the vast majority of children and young people in the DRC and ultimately favored those from wealthier families who had consistent power and online access, as well as IT literacy. For many, this meant that little to no learning was happening at all. The mother of a 9-year-old girl in Oicha commented that "my girl is no longer learning, she is only waiting for the reopening to continue her studies" (HRW, 2020b). According to research by Save the Children (2020b), only 15% of children and young people in the DRC had access to distance learning modalities; this number was as low as 4% in the eastern provinces, such as North Kivu.

Informants report that, in actions contrary to the government's endorsement of the Safe Schools Declaration in 2015 and the promulgation of complementary Guidelines on Protecting Schools and Universities from Attacks during Armed Conflict (GCPEA, 2014), school infrastructure was damaged during the lockdown, as schools were occupied by both armed groups and IDPs. In August, an exam center was attacked the night before examinations were to be held, and several female students were raped. At another location, a primary student was killed while sitting for exams (ACAPS, 2020b).

## 4.2.3 CHILD PROTECTION RISKS AND RESPONSE

When COVID-19 broke out, service providers and the general population, particularly in areas previously affected by Ebola, were able to capitalize on their experience with the 2019-2020 Ebola epidemic, which was the tenth such outbreak in the DRC. Children, young people, and communities were already sensitized to the need for social distancing and good hygiene, including finding ways to keep up regular handwashing, "even in places with water scarcity," as one informant noted. These measures were therefore easier to implement at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Schools located in the Ebola-afflicted provinces were well versed in the need for temperature checks and handwashing stations, as an informant reported, and teachers were accustomed to their role as impromptu public health agents. Known and trusted by their students and communities, teachers are uniquely positioned to share information about the virus and are more likely to be believed, particularly in contexts where misinformation and mistrust of outsiders is commonlace (Kapur, 2020b).

Key informants reported that schools generally remained open during previous Ebola outbreaks, largely in recognition of the protection they offer, even though approximately 30% of all fatalities in the 2019-2020 Ebola epidemic were children and young people (Kapur, 2020b). Despite the significantly lower fatality rate among children and young people, the ministry of health was quick to close schools at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic (World Bank, 2020b). According to one key informant, this may be due to the

"influence of European decisions to close schools, even though the experience in the DRC is very different from those nations." As a result, children and young people have been exposed to heightened risks, which differentially impact girls and boys of various ages (Save the Children, 2020a).

Localized efforts by the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo to relay the global call issued by the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Children and Armed Conflict for armed groups to liberate children and young people during the pandemic had a surprising response. Despite their usual widespread recruitment and use of children and young people, a number of armed groups "voluntarily opted to release children from their ranks, primarily motivated by fears of widespread infection and economic pressures" (Kapur, 2020b, p. 54). Nevertheless, children and young people not fully engaged in education and facing financial precarity were still at a higher risk of both coerced or so-called voluntary recruitment. This was particularly true as the COVID-19 crisis deepened and children and young people searched for "something else to do," as a key informant reported. A parent of two secondary school students in Beni town said. "The fear for me...is that they will get lost and join the armed groups in the region" (HRW, 2020b). The exact number of children and voung people recruited during the pandemic is difficult to ascertain, due to the impact the crisis has had on monitoring and verification efforts. That said, recruitment efforts are likely to have had a greater impact on boys, given the disproportionate extent to which they are targeted for recruitment and use in the DRC (Kapur, 2020b).

Like sexual violence, which is endemic in eastern DRC, the weakening of protective mechanisms during the outbreak has allowed perpetrators to act with impunity (Kapur, 2020b). Girls of reproductive age are at particular risk of missing out on their education due to early and/or unwanted pregnancies, additional childcare responsibilities, and a multitude of other physical and psychological consequences of sexual violence (HRW, 2018). Cases have been recorded by actors in health zones across the country (e.g. Street Child, 2020). Pregnant students are typically not allowed to attend classes and are barred from taking examinations, as a key informant reported. Out-of-school girls, particularly adolescents, are also at increased risk of child marriage, though nationwide empirical data is still lacking.

Child labor has always existed in the DRC, and it is possible that the combination of school closures and economic uncertainty may have exacerbated its prevalence (Fédération des entreprises du Congo, 2020; Gouvernement RDC, 2020). A key informant stressed that it is important to understand the "complexity of the picture"; for example, parents may have their children accompany them to the agricultural fields to avoid leaving them at home unattended. Nevertheless, she continued, it is a context in which they are seen as "income generators, especially if they are out of school and not otherwise occupied." As a result, "thousands of children have been trapped into child labour...[subjected to] outright slavery or insignificant pay, ill treatment, and overwork." Another informant reported that gang recruiters in urban areas may be exploiting the increased hunger, neglect, and economic pressures (Save the Children, 2020c) to exhort children and young people to partake in criminal activities.

## 4.2.4 MOVING FORWARD: CAPITALIZING ON OPPORTUNITIES CREATED BY CRISIS

As one key informant noted, "COVID-19 has provided additional funds [for programs for children and young people] and allowed for an increased focus on children." Another reported that this is particularly true for street-connected children and young people and those in detention—two categories that have often been sidelined due to budgetary constraints. Government decrees at the onset of the outbreak allowed many children and young people who were in prison or detention centers to be released, which providing an entry point for UNICEF and other actors to advocate for alternative measures to detention and promote family reunification.

The response to COVID-19 has, paradoxically, created an opportunity to ensure that out-of-school children and young people, especially girls, are able to resume their education. Targeted back-to-school campaigns and sustained investment in human capital and school infrastructure have the potential to fulfill the country's ambition of universal enrollment (Save the Children, 2020b).



## **4.3 CASE STUDY: LEBANON**

## 4.3.1 COUNTRY CONTEXT

Prior to COVID-19, Lebanon was experiencing ongoing turmoil. Due to nearly a decade of war in neighboring Syria, Lebanon hosts more refugees per capita than any other nation, including 1.5 million Syrian refugees since 2011 and an estimated 175,000 long-term Palestinian refugees. In 2019, Lebanon was shaken by a financial crisis and accompanying political unrest, with widespread protests focused on higher taxes and living costs, corruption, a stagnating economy, and the government's inability to provide basic services such as water and power (Haddad et al., 2020). COVID-19 has exacerbated the existing

poverty and threatened any remaining economic stability. UNICEF (2020h) estimates that 50% of Lebanese population and 75% of Syrians living in Lebanon today are experiencing extreme poverty. According to NRC (2020), 90% of Syrian refugees, 80% of Palestinians living in Lebanon, and 70% of Lebanese have lost jobs or suffered pay cuts since the outbreak of COVID-19; 81% of Syrian refugees report that they cannot pay their rent.

On August 4, 2020, just as the lockdown eased and schools began to resume operation, a massive explosion at the Port of Beirut caused extensive damage throughout the city, with 190 deaths and more than 6,000 injuries (UNICEF, 2020h). The explosion exacerbated existing problems of food and shelter shortages: 85% of the nation's cereal supply was lost (UN Women, 2020) and 300,000 homes were damaged or destroyed, both of which threaten the safety of 100,000 children and young people.

## 4.3.2 EDUCATION UNDER LOCKDOWN

According to key informants from Lebanon, it is difficult to separate the impact of school closures from the country's "overlapping crises." At the start of the pandemic, the Lebanese education system was already thinly stretched. To accommodate the influx of Syrian refugee children and young people, the Lebanese government had implemented a shift system in 2016, whereby Syrians attended an afternoon school shift from 2:00-6:00 pm. The same teachers were responsible for both shifts, resulting in their becoming exhausted and burnt out. Funding shortfalls prevented full enrollment, especially among refugees; 48% of refugee learners were out of school in 2018-2019. In 2019, schools were closed due to economic crisis protests and later teacher strikes (Haddad et al., 2020).

One key informant reported that even before the COVID-19 outbreak, "huge" numbers of Lebanese children and young people have been moving from private schools to those in the public sector, as parents are increasingly unable to afford private tuition. Other semi-subsidized schools, which were associated with religious groups but supported by government funding, also closed during and after the initial economic crisis when the government stopped or slowed support.

With COVID-19 and the port explosion, Lebanese students have increasingly been given priority for enrollment in the second shift, resulting in even greater exclusion of Syrian refugee children and young people than the 2018-2019 rates. Without access to schools, Syrian children and young people had been enrolling at informal learning centers, whose programs provided a bridge to the formal education sector. With these institutions closed during COVID-19 along with formal schools, interventions were needed that focused on Syrian and the most vulnerable Lebanese children and young people, specifically those who saw a "disruption of social and peer networks and social support services, and breakdowns in caregiver routines," according to one stakeholder. INGOs distributed tablets to Syrian and some Lebanese students in the informal learning sector, which offered interactive lessons adapted to the Lebanese national curriculum. They also offered some "recreational" or "soft" PSS messages and activities, along with content aimed at protecting children and young people from online predators. Caregivers of children and young people using the programs were organized into WhatsApp groups in order to provide ongoing support and guidance; the groups also monitored online risks.

The national lockdown and school closures began in Lebanon in early March, and key informants report that schools were largely unprepared to shift to online learning. The lack of expertise or capacity in the national education system meant that "some schools are just forwarding YouTube videos," according to one key informant. Others were able to distribute some printed materials and operate hybrid models in an attempt to provide some learning engagement for children and young people. However, these options are only stopgap measures; as one informant explained, it is impossible to achieve objectives when learning at a distance: "We can talk about attendance as a simplified objective, but no one in the world is able to meet objectives. Distance learning is not about doing what you do in the classroom and trying to do it at a distance."

Distance learning also lacks accessibility features to encourage children and young people with disabilities to participate; even though schools had specialized departments for those learners, they lacked the expertise to migrate these services to remote modalities. Informants commented on the extreme social isolation suffered by children and young people with disabilities once schools closed; after the strides made over the decades to bring them out of their homes and into the schools, these children and young people were again "hidden" in their homes. According to one informant, "with schools closed, they lose an anchor in life."

With the rise in extreme poverty in Lebanon (UNICEF Lebanon, 2020), many children and young people lack consistent access to online learning. All 137 children who participated in a Save the Children (2020e) survey reported having difficulties with online learning; 22% of refugee respondents did not have reliable internet, and 11% reported that their parents, due to their own lack of education, could not help them with home schooling.

## 4.3.3 CHILD PROTECTION

Of the children and young people in Lebanon who reported having difficulty continuing their studies, 90% also reported that their family could not cover basic needs like food and 50% could not afford medicine (Save the Children, 2020e). According to Plan International Lebanon (2020), poverty brought on by the economic crisis and increased inflation may prevent families from being able to access education; they may instead resort to child labor or child marriage. All key informants agreed with this prediction, with one stating that child labor rates were highest among the Syrian and Palestinian refugees. However, UNICEF Lebanon (2020) is reporting increased child labor among Lebanese as well, which they offered as evidence of the "increased vulnerability felt by all." After an apparent decrease in child labor at the start of the lockdown, children and young people are now visibly working more on the streets. An informant commented that "families consider that their livelihood is more important than staying at home and abiding by government lockdown restrictions." With evidence that a high number of children and young people are being sent to work in rural areas, especially Syrian refugees, another informant worried about the lack of safety measures and social distancina in the aaricultural sector, which leaves working children and young people exposed to COVID-19 transmission, as well as abuse and exploitation.

Following the August explosion in the port, conditions for both Lebanese and refugee populations in the Beirut region deteriorated further. UNICEF Lebanon (2020) estimates that, due to the blast, 600,000 children and young people will require MHPSS. Moreover, shelters were needed to provide safety and access to WASH facilities amid the ongoing pandemic, especially for women, girls, and LGBTQI adults and young people. The blast also damaged 163 public and private schools and 20 technical and vocational education training centers, which further strained enrollments for the planned school reopening; some were able to reopen instead in October. A key informant indicated that, due to the blast, schools that had planned to offer shifts to Syrian refugees when they reopened were now only accepting Lebanese children and young people.

These multiple crises have brought an increase in domestic and gender-based violence. BBC Arabic (Mahthabi, 2020) has reported a 184% increase in hotline calls related to domestic violence and online sexual blackmail; more than 41% of the incidents reported involved girls and women ages 12 to 26. It is still common for violence in the home to be treated as a private or familial matter throughout the Arab countries, where an estimated 88% of victims and survivors do not report incidents (AlAlayly, 2020). An informant from UNICEF reported a decrease in the safe identification and referral of cases among child victims in particular. Another informant commented that, with the closure of schools, "children are not visible anymore, and frontline workers are unable to work on activities that would make for easier identification" of cases of domestic or gender-based violence.

## 4.3.4 MOVING FORWARD: FINDING STRUCTURE

As 2020 drew to a close, the challenges facing Lebanese society appeared immense. There was concern among informants and in the literature about the long-term impact of the 2020 crises. In research conducted by Terres des Hommes Italy (2020) following the blast, 87% of households surveyed reported that children and young people needed individual PSS and 41% requested immediate intervention; 78% of Syrian refugee households required PSS, almost double the need reported among Lebanese households. Participants said that relief from this specific tragedy appeared to be far off, with 73% expecting that children and young people would not resume schooling in 2020; at the time of writing, it is not yet known how many of those have been able to resume schooling.

Informants warned that educators and administrators at the schools that have been able to reopen need to be aware of the significant strain the children and young people have endured, and that wide scale provision of MHPSS needs to accompany the return to fulltime learning. According to one informant, "schools should be aware that students will not perform as they used to before the closure." For schools unable to open, or for those (largely refugee) children and young people unable to be enrolled, the quality of their education still depends on their parents and caregivers. Informants suggest that schools and education organizations view parents as "partners" and provide them with the support and training they need to take on the role of teacher within the home. This has been easier to implement in the nonformal sector, especially among Syrian refugee parents. In the meantime, Lebanon's ministry of education needs to implement a backlog of education improvements and programs, including those that address child protection and PSS messaging.

Much improvement is needed in the child protection sector but, according to one informant, poverty is a barrier to dealing with such issues: "When the financial needs are so great, it becomes hard to...care for other needs that are more invisible." Increased reporting has helped to make the issue of domestic violence more visible; AlAlyly (2020) writes that domestic violence, including that involving children and young people, is moving from being a private family matter to one within the public sphere. This has been helped by mass public campaigns that increase awareness of GBV and various forms of online sexual exploita-

tion, such as blackmail (Mahthabi, 2020). Additional national campaigns are working to build awareness of how to report violence against and the exploitation of children and young people. According to one informant, a significant barrier to gathering comprehensive data on child protection hotline calls at the start of the lockdown was that there was no central national hotline. UNICEF has worked with civil society organizations to ensure that there is a hotline for each of the governates, which provide triage services within the existing case management pathways.

## 4.4 CASE STUDY: RWANDA



## **4.4.1 COUNTRY CONTEXT**

In the past two decades, in the aftermath of the 1994 genocide, Rwanda has made significant strides in addressing issues of poverty and gender inequality. Recent policies have expanded educational access, initially making a 9-year basic education and subsequently a 12-year basic education free, alongside specific policies which prioritize girls' education. However, increased enrollment means that teachers have as many as 70 students in one classroom, and some schools still rely on double shifts (Cameron, 2020).

Rwanda remains a nation in transition, with high rates of poverty, especially in rural regions, and ongoing social challenges such as teenage pregnancy, SGBV, and intimate partner violence. Rwanda is host to nearly 150,000 refugees and asylum seekers, including long-term refugees from the DRC and more recent arrivals from Burundi. Children and young people (under the age of 18) account for half of the total refugee and asylum-seeking population (UNICEF, 2019). The densely populated camps these people occupy lack infrastructure and often face power and water shortages (UNHCR Rwanda, 2017). Moreover, food rations were cut in 2018, an indication of the ongoing vulnerability these refugee populations face (WFP, 2018).

## 4.4.2 IMPACT ON EDUCATION

As part of its public health response, the Government of Rwanda acted swiftly to close all schools as of March 14, 2020. With nearly 3.6 million children and young people suddenly out of school—nearly 30% of the national population—the ministry of education quickly implemented Keeping the Doors Open for Learning (Ministry of Education, 2020), a COVID-19 education response plan to ensure that learning continued from a distance. The plan's clear objective was to "protect and provide for vulnerable populations, including children with disabilities, girls and children from lower wealth quintiles" (p. 5). As a result, key education stakeholders rapidly pivoted from their standard approaches and began to deliver remote learning options, including through lessons on radio and television, official Rwanda Education Board e-learning portals and social media platforms, as well as telephone helplines and text message services.

Given that 98% of the Rwandan population uses radio as a reliable source of information, radio broadcasts were given highest priority as an "inclusive and accessible" means of disseminating lessons, especially for pupils in primary classes. According to UNICEF (2020f), as of August 2020, approximately 55% of students were engaged in radio lessons and 17% in television lessons, while 55,000 students accessed the Rwanda Education Board's e-learning portal daily. However, an inequity impact assessment of lower primary students from some of the most vulnerable and marginalized households around the country showed that only 42% had followed the radio lessons—far fewer than the national average (Kapur, 2020a). Although radio ownership was thought to be widespread, only 30% of parents surveyed owned a radio and only 6% had access to the internet.

Apart from the availability and accessibility of IT infrastructure, parental engagement to support their children's continued learning has not been guaranteed: research indicates that the proportion of parents supporting their children's learning at home actually dropped significantly during school closures, possibly indicating the multitude of challenges parents in vulnerable and marginalized households faced during a pandemic of this nature (Kapur, 2020a). A key informant in another small-scale study indicated that continued learning was "potentially supported by the pre-positioning of textbooks and the pedagogical preparation of teachers to support learning in 'reading camps' outside of a typical classroom environment."

Despite the diverse distance learning modalities available and the government's rapid response to the crisis, the prolonged school closures have impacted children and young people's education in both immediate and long-term ways. Schools closed in March 2020, when the academic year had only just begun; according to a key informant, when face-to-face classes began again, many students had lost almost an entire school year. Plans for remedial action are being made, including adapted curricula and extra weekend classes. Another informant reported that national exams were moved from November 2020 to May 2021. According to an informant, while lower primary students enrolled in public schools had to wait until at least January 2021 to restart face-to-face learning, those in private institutions were cleared to begin classes several months earlier, widening an existing public-private divide. Because of the overcrowding of classrooms, social distancing has proven difficult to adhere to; more schools have returned to double-shift-ing, which results in fewer in-class hours for students.

## 4.4.3 IMPACT ON CHILD PROTECTION

Staying home for extended periods may have been worse for children and young people from poorer families, who generally live in more confined quarters. Restricted movement meant that family members were increasingly forced to spend time together. As one key informant reported, some children and young people may have been exposed to parental conflict or been abused themselves. While empirical data is lacking, government-mandated community volunteers locally known as Friends of the Family have reported increasing cases of family conflict since the onset of the pandemic. Helplines have received more calls than ever, another indication of a growing problem (UNICEF, 2020f).

Due to prevailing social norms related to gender and age, adolescent girls are most likely to bear the brunt of additional domestic household burdens. According to one 16-yearold girl interviewed by Save the Children, "I'm working like a domestic worker, I haven't time to revise my studies. I clean house, I cook the food, I fetch the water, etc., if I make mistake my aunt beats me and tells me aggressive words, it makes me feel like I am worthless" (Children's Voice Today/Save the Children, 2020, p. 8).

While widespread teenage pregnancy in Rwanda predates COVID-19 (United Nations Rwanda, 2020b), there is concern that sexual violence against children and young people is on the rise. National officials report that GBV hotlines have received "hundreds" of calls per day, including from teenage mothers who face confinement with the perpetrators responsible for their pregnancies (Iliza, 2020). Although Rwanda's Girls' Education Policy (MINEDUC, 2008) provides for the compulsory reentry of girls who drop out of school due to pregnancy, the extent to which this will be put into practice is not clear.

Some areas of the country, including border districts and refugee camps, have experienced longer or repeat lockdowns due to localized outbreaks of COVID-19. This could exacerbate the child protection issues faced by children and young people there, as a key informant reports. On the other hand, where lockdowns were eased, many parents returned to work while children and young people remained at home, due to ongoing school closures. Moreover, key informants indicate that many older siblings have returned to school and left younger children at home without adequate care or supervision. Child neglect may therefore have become more acute over this period. Local authorities already have reported a higher number of children and young people on the streets, including some begging for money or food (Kapur, 2020a).

With the suspension of school meal programs that provided nutritious meals daily to 83,500 students in the four poorest districts of the country, hunger and nutritional precarity are growing concerns (WFP, 2020a). Even before the pandemic, some 38% of Rwandan children under age five had stunted growth, in particular boys in rural locations and children of lower socioeconomic status (United Nations Rwanda, 2020a). The UN anticipates that 66.2% of children ages 5 to 14 will be seriously affected by nutritional deficiency. The longer schools remain closed, the more children's nutritional outcomes will be affected—a fact the Government of Rwanda has acknowledged, in light of its recent commitment to a massive scale-up of providing school meals for as many as 2.9 million pre-primary, primary, and secondary students since September 2020 (WFP, 2020c).

Children and young people in alternative care may be among those most affected. Many of them are children and young people with disabilities who were living in residential care

facilities or who had been forced into institutions (so-called transit centers) after being found living on the streets (HRW, 2020a). These institutions were emptied at short notice when COVID-19 was first detected in Rwanda, rushing through an otherwise deliberate process of deinstitutionalization that was already under way. As a result, at least 369 children and young people were sent home with little preparation (UNICEF, 2020f). The risks they faced at home are still unknown, although actors on the ground are now beginning to make retroactive efforts at case management.

## 4.4.4 MOVING FORWARD: COVID-19 AS A CATALYST FOR CHANGE IN RWANDA

Despite the challenges, the pandemic may have had some positive impact. According to a key informant, education actors have long advocated for a simplified primary curriculum to enhance quality basic education for all, and this looks increasingly possible in the current policy environment. In addition, planned infrastructure improvements have been accelerated as part of the pandemic response, including the rapid construction of 22,500 classrooms in a matter of months (Byishimo & Mutanganshuro, 2020)—a process that otherwise would have been completed incrementally over a number of years, a key informant reports. While even more could have been done to support children and young people with different types of disabilities, Rwanda did take its commitment to inclusive education seriously, including providing televised lessons with sign language interpretation during the school closures.

In terms of child protection, COVID-19 has also been a catalyst for action, as evidenced by the launch of a national campaign on child defilement and a national effort to address online sexual exploitation and abuse more fully. Key informants report that both threats have become increasingly prevalent during the pandemic. COVID-19 also has shown that previous investments in strengthening systems, particularly expanding and training the workforce and improving coordination between institutions, has increased resilience and enabled a rapid response to the outbreak. Given the recent crisis in neighboring DRC, some of these measures were already under way to address Ebola preparedness. While COVID-19 was initially treated as a public health crisis, the government was quick to grant the same level of priority access and authorized movement to both health and social workers, as it recognized the need for a multi-sectoral effort to both contain the spread of the virus and mitigate its impact on children and their families. This has helped to curb the effects of COVID-19 on children and young people affected by school closures.

## **4.5 CASE STUDY: SRI LANKA**



## 4.5.1 COUNTRY CONTEXT

Open conflict ended a decade ago in Sri Lanka and the nation is now classified as middle income, but it is still a post-crisis context in which both the political and economic situation remain fraught. Occasional violent incidents still occur, as with the 2019 Islamic terrorist bombings in Colombo that targeted Christian churches and luxury hotels popular with tourists; 269 were killed in the bombings and more than 500 injured. The tourism industry shrank following the attacks, leading to a serious economic downturn. In the aftermath of the bombings, critics have argued that, even with the cessation of the 30-year civil war, Sri Lanka is post-war but not a post-conflict society (Ananthavinayagan, 2019), and tensions between ethnic and religious groups remain. COVID-19 came as an additional shock: the closure of schools and businesses and the implementation of a national curfew curtailed economic progress, intensified the deprivation of already marginalized groups, and increased poverty across all groups, thus posing serious risks to social stability and ongoing peace.

## 4.5.2 EDUCATION UNDER COVID-19

All schools in Sri Lanka were suddenly closed on March 12, 2020, with a staggered reopening, according to level, in June. When COVID-19 cases increased in July and October, the government ordered additional shorter-term closures; other local lockdowns and school closures were instituted in regions where cases spiked again. One key informant compared the COVID-19 outbreak in Sri Lanka to the 2019 bombings, as schools in areas affected by the bombings were also closed for two weeks or longer. According to the informant, both crises caused a sense of panic and a "suspension of normalcy" that were heightened by school closures (UNESCO, 2020i), mixed messages from public figures, and a response that did not adequately rely on civil society and UN actors. At the start of the current school closures, informants reported that the ministry of education prioritized remote learning opportunities for students who were due to sit for national exams, including the grade 5 and O-Level exams, and the advanced-level exams that students take to become eligible for university. As the pandemic progressed, lessons for non-exam grades were made increasingly available, with some hosted on the National Institute of Education website and broadcast via television and radio. Some teachers sent packets of materials digitally via WhatsApp and Viber (Ministry of Education Sri Lanka & UNICEF, 2020). Informants also spoke of some printed materials being distributed to young children in grades 1-2. No data were gathered to determine the effectiveness or uptake of any of these materials. As a case in point, access was clearly a problem for the children of Tamil tea pickers on plantations, one of the most impoverished groups in Sri Lanka. Amnesty International (2020) reported that just 21% of children and young people on the plantations had access to the internet, and unstable power connections further compounded their access to education materials.

Two critical areas were neglected in Sri Lanka's COVID-19 education response strategy: special needs students and preschoolers. In a rapid assessment conducted by the ministry of education and UNICEF (2020), 76% of caregivers of children and young people with special needs stated that they lacked the capacity to support their children's needs. Preschool, which is a key period for stimulation and learning development, is primarily an informal and privately managed sector in Sri Lanka. Preschools closed during the lockdowns, and those operating the preschools took other jobs out of economic need; this created potential problems for the availability of preschools in the coming year. Moreover, parents of young children and toddlers received very little support or guidance during the lockdowns, other than recommendations for basic hygiene.

Exams went ahead as scheduled in October and November 2020, even amid the ongoing outbreaks and local lockdowns. Some exam schedules were disrupted when examiners tested positive for COVID-19 and entire student cohorts went into quarantine (Associated Press, 2020); news agencies (EconomyNext, 2020) reported that the pressure of sitting for exams during a pandemic increased the stress students experienced.

## 4.5.3 IMPACT ON CHILD PROTECTION

As with other contexts worldwide, Sri Lankan child protection authorities and organizations lack concrete data to speak to the risks being exacerbated during COVID-19 but, according to one informant, "from field reports and reporting from other partners, we know that the incidents are there." Multiple informants cited increasing poverty, food insecurity, parental stress, and negative coping mechanisms (such as alcohol consumption) as potential drivers of child protection incidents. Moreover, the economic situation is quickly worsening; in a World Vision Lanka (2020) survey of 2,190 families, 44% of respondents said they had lost their jobs and 88% reported a significant drop in their income.

One informant spoke to the changes in family dynamics, as parents—especially fathers—struggled to adjust to the challenge of round-the-clock child supervision and support brought on by home confinement and curfews. Hospitals and healthcare professionals reported serious increases in GBV and intimate partner violence (Tegal & Galappatti, 2020). The National Child Protection Authority received an increasing number of complaints about child cruelty, and one stakeholder reported a 40% increase in calls to the national hotline for corporal punishment. A key informant reports that cases of violence within the home are often met with a limited response: the national government does not consider responding to violence against women and children an "essential" service, so lockdown measures prevent frontline responders from conducting site visits and/or providing confidential and effective distance-based services. Where cases of abuse were identified, children and young people were asked to return home, often to their abusers, due to limited alternative care options. There also were reports of police being unwilling to respond to complaints of domestic violence because of the pandemic—they did not consider such cases a part of the official pandemic response and thus they ignored them (Tegal & Galappatti, 2020).

In addition to exposing children and young people to violence, a key informant reported that economic difficulties arising from COVID-19 are contributing to increased levels of child labor and child trafficking, although no explicit data are yet available. Child labor is usually centered in the international tourism sector but, as an informant reported, as local tourism has picked up there are increasing reports of children and young people being put to work in the sector so companies can reduce their expenses and offer cheap, competitive rates for domestic tourists. Sri Lanka previously made significant strides in reducing child labor, especially around WFCL, which dropped from more than 900,000 working children and young people in 1999 to a low of 103,704 in 2016; this lower number still represented as much as 2.3% of the country's child population (ILO, 2016). Children and young people from tea planation families are especially at risk of dropping out of school and entering the labor market (Amnesty International, 2020). Clearly, if the nation is to meet its target of 0% child labor by 2022, a stronger government response is needed ("40,000 children working," 2019).

## 4.5.4. LOOKING AHEAD: THE NEED FOR LEADERSHIP AND EVIDENCE

At the end of 2020, as localized lockdowns and school closures continued, there was still great uncertainty in Sri Lanka. Informants noted that the education and child protection sectors would benefit from national strategies. One informant called for a clear "mapping" of schools within a district to understand their distinct features or challenges, such as the forms of technology available: "There needs to be school mapping to understand who has access and what that access looks like." With these types of data, the government would be better able to target areas of need and focus on deploying resources to the most marginalized groups, such as Tamil tea picker families. Informants also noted the need for better interaction between the ministries and the government, which indicated that the INGOs were often better positioned and networked to provide advice and expertise.

# **5. Moving Forward**

## 5.1 CONCLUDING OBSERVATIONS: RETURNING TO SCHOOL—OR NOT

As both the literature review and case studies demonstrate, **school closures come at an enormous cost to children and young people.** The combined losses of academic learning and formal nutrition, health, and MHPSS services, and the informal aspects of being protected and socially engaged have seriously affected the protection and well-being of children and young people. This has already been evident during the pandemic, and there are strong indicators that these effects will continue long after the pandemic is over. This is particularly true for children and young people in crisis-affected or other vulnerable contexts, and/or who have other, often intersecting vulnerabilities. Research from previous epidemics has highlighted not only the negative psychological effects of being quarantined (Brooks et al., 2020) but also the negative impact the lockdown-related stress and trauma have on children's and young people's ability to learn once face-toface schooling begins again (Lee, 2020).

Lessons from the past show that, when schools are closed and learning is disrupted during longer-term crises, children and young people are unlikely to restart their schooling when the crisis has passed (UNESCO, 2020b). Girls in particular are less likely to return to school once they leave, often because of early marriage, pregnancy, or the need to work (Save the Children, 2020d). Globally, an estimated ten million children and young people will not return to school as countries return to more normal operations (Save the Children, 2020g). As emerging evidence indicates, some parents and caregivers may be unwilling or unable to send children and young people back to school as closures lift, due to worsened poverty and the need for financial support; this was demonstrated during the EVD-related school closures in West Africa. The highest dropout rates there were among children from the poorest households in Guinea and Sierra Leone; two years after the schools reopened, an additional 22,000 more children and young people remained out of school than would have been expected before the outbreak (Smith, 2020). In 2020, 73% of the refugees and IDPs who responded to the NRC (2020) survey reported that the current economic situation would prevent them from sending their children back to school.

## 5.2 RECOMMENDED NEXT STEPS: IN THE IMMEDIATE AND LONG TERM

A review of available literature and the country case studies above provide extensive evidence of the consequences of school closures during the COVID-19 pandemic. It supports the argument that reopening schools and future school closures need to carefully balance public health risks with the welfare of children and young people (INEE & ACPHA, 2020).

Moving forward, to support the **response to and recovery** from the current pandemic and to help build **resilience and preparedness** for future infectious disease outbreaks, we offer the following detailed recommendations for policymakers and practitioners at the government, sector, and school levels; they stem directly from existing and emergent evidence.

## 5.2.1. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR RESPONSE AND RECOVERY

### Reach out to marginalized and less visible groups.

As schools reopen, both education and child protection actors must make a concerted effort to **identify and re-enroll children and young people who face the most serious risks**, including those who were already out of school when the pandemic began.

## At the government level:

- Undertake research to identify at-risk groups and formulate programming that specifically targets those groups.
- Address pre-existing legislative and normative gender gaps that will likely inhibit a return to school. For example, pregnancy should not result in girls' exclusion; providing childcare will encourage adolescent mothers to continue their schooling.
- Provide additional funding for services and amenities that will incentivize re-enrollment. For example, the Rwandan government has invested in providing school meals for the entire student population and menstrual kits for girls.
- Deploy public campaigns that promote the return to school and focus specifically on at-risk groups, including girls, and children and young people with disabilities.

## At the sector level:

• Collaborate between sectors to ensure that at-risk groups, including children and young people who were out of school prior to the pandemic, are identified and enrolled in school, and that they can access support services to ensure that they continue to attend.

## At the school level:

• Build school-community partnerships to disseminate information about the reopening of schools and the availability of school-based services. • Collaborate with community-based actors and the children and young people themselves to jointly identify and support the enrollment and retention of at-risk children and young people in the local area.

### As schools reopen, ensure access for all and prioritize well-being.

Given extensive concerns about learning loss, the World Bank (2020c), ILO, and UNICEF (2020) have emphasized that learning must be prioritized as children and young people return to school. They call for remedial, "catch-up," and accelerated classes to help children and young people realign with their curricular goals. Systems have thus prioritized the face-to-face return of certain student groups, such as those preparing for national exams. However, given the extent of overlapping protection concerns during the pandemic, there is a pressing need to both **ensure access for all and prioritize well-being over academic achievement.** 

### At the government level:

- Ensure adequate **funding of school personnel** so that teachers and administrators receive timely and commensurate compensation for their work.
- Emphasize **remedial and catch-up classes** that will help children and young people make up for lost learning during school closures, rather than pushing for a rapid realignment with the existing curriculum.

## At the school level:

- **Prioritize access for all,** even if adhering to social distancing and other safety measures requires shorter school days or double shifts.
- Be attentive to infection prevention and control measures, especially for children and young people with disabilities. As some learners with disabilities may need more physical contact with their environment—such as those with mobility issues touching walls or those who are visually impaired touching objects—or with their caregivers and assistants, provision must be made for frequent disinfecting, handwashing, and adequate personal protective equipment (Humanity and Inclusion, 2020a).
- For all learners, **prioritize a gradual return to "learning as usual"** in recognition of the many physical, emotional, psychological, and social stressors children and young people confronted during the pandemic. Also provide support for psychosocial needs and social and emotional readjustment to the classroom environment.

## 5.2.2. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR BUILDING RESILIENCE

#### Review curriculum and learning materials for relevance.

Given that children and young people encountered difficulties in using existing school materials for at-home learning (Chabbott & Sinclair, 2020; Gordon et al., 2020; Kapur, 2020a), especially when they lacked parental support, the pandemic has provided an opportunity for a serious re-thinking of the relevance of existing curricular content, materials, and modalities in the 21st century.

### At the government level:

- Utilize research to identify fit-for-purpose distance learning options.
- Draft and adopt minimum standards for online and blended learning.
- To ensure that new and existing online platforms are user-friendly, accessible to children and young people with a variety of disabilities, and of high quality, continue to **invest in and develop online learning**, including investing in technological devices and the development of online platforms and materials.
- Provide better **support for equitable distance learning offerings** and improve existing materials for distribution via television, radio, and SMS.
- Review **existing textbooks and other printed learning materials** to ensure that content, form, and language are accessible for all learners, especially in learning situations where no teacher or educator is present.
- Integrate messages around child protection (including online safety) into existing curricula, teacher training programs, and materials on new and existing distance learning platforms.
- **Engage teachers** in the textbook and curriculum review and revision process and work with teacher groups to ensure that adequate and ongoing training and support are provided for the implementation of blended or virtual learning and any revised materials.

#### At the sector level:

• Provide **ongoing training and strengthen the capacity of teachers and school administrators,** and of parents and caregivers, to support children's and young people's at-home learning, and their MHPSS needs.

## At the school level:

- Integrate messages regarding child protection and online safety into school programming and classroom lessons.
- Provide **distance learning options** for children and young people with disabilities who are unable to rejoin face-to-face schooling due to health concerns, **along with support for their caregivers.** This will allow these children and young people to continue to engage with learning and the classroom environment.

## Build back better.

The findings from this report provide a template for governments to "build back better" and strengthen existing systems to mitigate the impact of future crises and ensure that child protection and education sectors are working in sync.

## At the government level:

- Designate child protection services and response to reports of abuse, violence, neglect, and exploitation as **essential aspects** of the infectious disease response.
- Facilitate the **ongoing integration** of the child protection and education sectors.
- Devise **intentional, targeted programming** that uses our research findings to ensure the protection and well-being of children and young people, both at home and in their communities.
- Invest in facilities and enact policies that enable safe schooling during infectious disease outbreaks, including improving WASH facilities, providing personal protective equipment for teachers and students, and mandating smaller class sizes.

## At the sector, community, and school level:

- Through collaboration between sectors, communities, and schools, **provide ongoing sensitization and support for parents** in order to:
  - understand the types of risks children and young people may encounter outside of school and emphasize the importance of attending school to mitigate potential risks;
  - ° focus on the **forms of assistance and support** that children and young people need when learning from home; and
  - help provide explicit support for children's and young people's social, emotional, and MHPSS needs, and provide coping strategies for parents and children alike.

## **Disaggregated Data and Additional Research**

**Ongoing research is required:** this report indicates numerous areas where data on specific groups are not available or have not been disaggregated. For response and recovery, and the ongoing development of resilient education and child protection systems, there is a strong need for increased research around at-risk groups and intersecting factors that exacerbate risks. Data should be disaggregated to account not only for sex and age but also sexual orientation and gender identity, disability, nationality, legal status in the country they are in, household composition, and parents' education and socioeconomic status.

Further, in recognition of the mutually reinforcing relationship between education and child protection, there is an ongoing need for **collaboration between the child protec-tion and education sectors.** Integrating child protection and education minimum standards, policies, and programs can **help to make the most of** the existing, often strained resources in crisis-affected contexts (ACPHA, 2018) in recognition of shared goals.

# References

- 3EA. (2017). IRC Healing Classrooms retention support programming improves Syrian refugee children's learning in Lebanon. Education in Emergencies: Evidence for Action. <u>https://www.edu-links.org/resources/healing-classrooms-retention-support-programming-improves-syrian-refugee-childrens</u>
- 40,000 children working as child labourers. (2019, June 15). Daily FT. <u>http://www.ft.lk/</u> <u>news/40-000-children-working-as-child-labourers/56-680064</u>
- Able Child Africa. (2020). The effects of COVID-19 on children and youth with disabilities in Africa: A statement from the Able Child Africa Partnership Network. Able Child Africa. <u>https://ablechildafrica.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/The-Effects-of-Covid-19-on-Children-and-Youth-with-Disabilities-in-Africa-1.pdf</u>
- ACAPS. (2016). Beyond a public health emergency: Potential secondary humanitarian impacts of a large-scale Ebola outbreak. ACAPS. <u>https://www.acaps.org/sites/</u><u>acaps/files/products/files/t\_beyond\_a\_public\_health\_emergency\_feb\_2016.pdf</u>
- ACAPS. (2020a). Colombia: COVID-19 impact of government measures. ACAPS. <u>https://</u> reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/20200416-sitrep-87-covid-19\_0.pdf
- ACAPS. (2020b). Education & child protection challenges in eastern DRC: Impact of COVID-19, conflict and policy reform. ACAPS. <u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.</u> <u>int/files/resources/20201019\_acaps\_covid-19\_thematic\_series\_on\_education\_drc\_eastern\_provinces.pdf</u>
- ACPHA. (2018). Integrating child protection and education in humanitarian action. ACPHA. <u>https://alliancecpha.org/en/system/tdf/library/attachments/advocacy\_brief\_integration.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=31371</u>
- ACPHA. (2020a). COVID-19: Protecting children from violence, abuse, and neglect in the home (Vol. 1). ACPHA. <u>https://www.alliancecpha.org/en/child-protection-online-library/covid-19-protecting-children-violence-abuse-and-neglect-home</u>
- ACPHA. (2020b). COVID-19 synthesis #2: Child labour. ACPHA. <u>https://www.alliancecpha.org/sites/default/files/library/attachments/2\_evidence\_synthesis\_child\_labour\_covid-19\_final.pdf</u>
- ACPHA. (2020c). Key messages and considerations for programming for children associated with armed forces or armed groups during the COVID-19 pandemic (Vol. 1). ACPHA. <u>https://alliancecpha.org/en/system/tdf/library/attachments/key\_ considerations\_-\_caafag-covid19.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=38468</u>
- AlAlayly, A. (2020, June 1). انوروك" نمز يف ةفئازلا قيبرعلا ةأرملا تارايتخاو يلزنملا فنعلا. [Domestic violence and the illusional choices of the Arab woman at the time of Corona]. Daraj. <u>https://daraj.com/47251/</u>

- Amnesty International. (2020, June 18). Children belonging to plantation communities should not be left behind. Amnesty International. <u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2020/06/sri-lanka-it-is-time-to-change-the-narrative/</u>
- AMREF Health Africa. (2020). Evidence on the effects of COVID-19 pandemic on female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM/C) and child, early, and forced marriages (CEFM) in Kenya. Amref Health Africa. <u>https://amref.org/kenya/download/evidence-on-the-effects-of-covid-19-pandemic-on-female-genital-mutilation-cutting-fgm-c-and-child-early-and-forced-marriages-cefm-in-kenya/</u>
- Ananthavinayagan, T. V. (2019, April 21). Attacks evidence Sri Lanka as post-war but not post-conflict country. The Irish Times. <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/news/</u> world/asia-pacific/attacks-evidence-sri-lanka-as-post-war-but-not-post-conflictcountry-1.3867685
- Anthem, P. (2020, April 16). Risk of hunger pandemic as coronavirus set to almost double acute hunger by end of 2020. WFP. <u>https://insight.wfp.org/covid-19-will-almost-double-people-in-acute-hunger-by-end-of-2020-59df0c4a8072</u>
- Associated Press. (2020, October 22). The latest: Sri Lanka orders more curfews over virus cluster. ABC News. <u>https://abcnews.go.com/Health/wireStory/latest-australia-reports-rare-case-reinfection-73729657</u>
- Atlantis Group. (2020, November 17). Act now to protect education, governments asked. Varkey Foundation. <u>https://www.varkeyfoundation.org/opinion/act-now-to-protect-education-governments-asked/</u>
- Azevedo, J. P., Hasan, A., Goldemberg, D., Iqbal, S. A., & Geven, K. (2020). Simulating the potential impacts of COVID-19 school closures on schooling and learning outcomes: A set of global estimates. World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1596/1813-9450-9284</u>
- Bakrania, S., Chavez, C., Ipince, A., Rocca, M., Oliver, S., Stansfield, C., & Subrahmanian, R. (2020). Impacts of pandemics and epidemics on child protection: Lessons learned from a rapid review in the context of COVID-19. UNICEF Office of Research. <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/WP-2020-05-Working-Paper-Impacts-Pandemics-Child-Protection.pdf</u>
- Bandiera, O., Buehren, N., Burgess, R., Goldstein, M., Gulesci, S., Rasul, I., & Sulaiman, M. (2018). Women's empowerment in action: Evidence from a randomized control trial in Africa. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 12(1), 210-259. <u>https://doi: 10.1257/app.20170416</u>
- Barriga, S. R., Buchanan, J., Ćerimović, E., & Sharma, K. (2017). Children with disabilities: Deprivation of liberty in the name of care and treatment. In Protecting children against torture in detention: Global solutions for a global problem (pp. 285-301). American University Center for Human Rights and Humanitarian Law.
- Berman, G. (2020, April 24). Ethical collection of data from children during the COVID-19 pandemic. UNICEF: Evidence for Action. <u>https://blogs.unicef.org/</u> <u>evidence-for-action/ethical-collection-of-data-from-children-during-the-covid-19-</u> <u>pandemic/</u>

- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., & Rubin, G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: Rapid review of the evidence. The Lancet, 395(10227), 912-920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8</u>
- Brown, W. (2020, May 19). Female genital mutilation surges in Somalia with girls stuck at home during lockdown. The Telegraph. <u>https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2020/05/19/female-genital-mutilation-surges-somalia-girls-stuck-home-lockdown/?</u>
- Busso, M., & Munoz, J. C. (2020, April 13). Pandemic and inequality: How much human capital is lost when schools close? IDB Blog: Ideas Matter. <u>https://blogs.</u> <u>iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/pandemic-and-inequality-how-much-human-capitalis-lost-when-schools-close/</u>
- Byishimo, B., & Mutanganshuro, L. (2020, June 6). Over 22,500 classrooms to be completed by September, says Mineduc. The New Times. <u>https://www.newtimes.</u> <u>co.rw/news/over-22500-classrooms-be-completed-september-says-mineduc</u>
- Cameron, L. M. (2020). "Looking out": Neoliberal discourses and English language teacher professionalism in Rwanda [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of Bristol.
- CARE. (2020). Gender implication of COVID-19 outbreaks in development and humanitarian settings. CARE International. <u>https://insights.careinternational.org.</u> uk/publications/gender-implications-of-covid-19-outbreaks-in-development-andhumanitarian-settings
- CEPAL & UNESCO. (2020). La educación en tiempos de la pandemia de COVID-19. UNESCO. <u>https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/45904-la-educacion-tiempos-</u> la-pandemia-covid-19
- Chabbott, C., & Sinclair, M. (2020). SDG 4 and the COVID-19 emergency: Textbooks, tutoring, and teachers. PROSPECTS, 49, 51-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-020-09485-y</u>
- Children's Voice Today/Save the Children. (2020). Views of children on Child Rights situation on COVID-19 lockdown in Rwanda. Children's Voice Today/Save the Children. <u>https://rwanda.savethechildren.net/sites/rwanda.savethechildren.net/files/library/childrens voices in COVID CVT report.pdf</u>
- Conto, C. A., Akseer, S., Dreesen, T., Kamei, A., Mizunoya, S., & Rigole, A. (2020). COVID-19: Effects of school closures on foundational skills and promising practices for monitoring and mitigating learning loss (Innocenti working paper No. WP 2020-13). UNESCO: Office of Research. <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/</u> <u>COVID-19\_Effects\_of\_School\_Closures\_on\_Foundational\_Skills\_and\_Promising\_</u> <u>Practices\_for\_Monitoring\_and\_Mitigating\_Learning\_Loss.pdf</u>
- Coordination du Cluster Education. (2020, June 25). Rapport d'enquête: Impact de la COVID-19 sur l'éducation- Réponses collectées auprès des membres du Cluster Education entre avril et mai 2020. Cluster Education Burkina Faso. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/democratic-republic-congo/la-r-ponse-au-covid-19-cluster-education-rdc</u>

- Denney, L., Gordon, R., & Ibrahim, A. (2015). Teenage pregnancy after Ebola in Sierra Leone: Mapping responses, gaps and ongoing challenges (Working paper 39). Overseas Development Institute. <u>http://securelivelihoods.org/wp-content/uploads/ Teenage-Pregnancies-after-Ebola-in-SierraLeone\_-Mapping-responses-gaps-andongoing-challenges.pdf</u>
- Desbandada en los colegios: ¿Cuántos estudiantes han abandonado sus estudios por la pandemia? (2020, October 27). Semana. <u>https://www.semana.com/educacion/</u> <u>articulo/desbandada-en-los-colegios-cuantos-estudiantes-han-abandonado-sus-</u> <u>estudios-por-la-pandemia/202009/</u>
- Dreesen, T., Akseer, S., Brossard, M., Dewan, P., Giraldo, J.-P., Kamei, A., Mizunoya, S., & Santiago Ortiz, J. (2020). Promising practices for equitable remote learning Emerging lessons from COVID-19 education responses in 127 countries. UNICEF Office of Research. <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/ publications/1090-promising-practices-for-equitable-remote-learningemerging-lessons-from-covid.html</u>
- EconomyNext. (2020, October 4). Sri Lanka closes schools after Covid-19 patient found from the community. EconomyNext. <u>https://economynext.com/sri-lanka-closes-schools-after-covid-19-patient-found-from-the-community-74370/</u>
- Edmonds, E. V. (2010). Selection into worst forms of child labor. Research in Labor Economics, 31, 1-31. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0147-9121(2010)0000031004
- El cierre de colegios es un caldo de cultivo para el trabajo infanti. (2020, October 7). Semana. <u>https://www.semana.com/educacion/articulo/el-cierre-de-colegios-es-un-</u> <u>caldo-de-cultivo-para-el-trabajo-infantil/202024/</u>
- Espinel, Z., Chaskel, R., Berg, R. C., Jose Florez, H., Gaviria, S. L., Bernal, O., Berg, K., MuÃ, C., Larkin, M. G., & Shultz, J. M. (2020). Venezuelan migrants in Colombia: COVID-19 and mental health. The Lancet, 7(August), 653-655. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30399-2</u>
- European Commission. (2019). DRC facts and figures. European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations. <u>http://ec.europa.eu/echo</u>
- Fédération des entreprises du Congo. (2020). Effets de la pandémie de Coronavirus sur les activités économiques en République Démocratique du Congo. Fédération des entreprises du Congo.
- Fischer, H.-T., Elliott, L., & Bertrand, S. L. (2018). Guidance note: Protection of children during infectious disease outbreaks. ACPHA. <u>https://alliancecpha.org/en/child-</u> <u>protection-online-library/guidance-note-protection-children-during-infectious-disease</u>
- Fore, H. H., Dongyu, Q., Beasley, D. M., & Ghebreyesus, T. A. (2020). Child malnutrition and COVID-19: The time to act is now. The Lancet, 396(10250), 517-518. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31648-2</u>
- Fundación Renacer. (2020). Contribucion de Fundación Renacer a cuestionario conjunto de los procedimientos especiale. Fundación Renacer. <u>https://www.ohchr.org/</u> <u>Documents/Issues/Children/Submissions/COVID19/NGOs\_Aca/Fundacion\_Renacer\_</u> <u>Colombia.doc+&cd=2&hl=es-419&ct=clnk&gl=co</u>

- GCPEA. (2014). Guidelines for protecting schools and universities from military use during armed conflict. GCPEA. <u>https://protectingeducation.org/wp-content/uploads/</u> <u>documents/documents\_guidelines\_en.pdf</u>
- Ging, J. P. (2020, October 8). Back to school in Democratic Republic of Congo after COVID-19 state of emergency ends. Africanews. <u>https://www.africanews.</u> <u>com/2020/08/10/back-to-school-in-democratic-republic-of-congo-after-covid-19-</u> <u>state-of-emergency-ends//</u>
- Global Protection Cluster. (2020). Aftershock: Abuse, exploitation & human trafficking in the wake of COVID-19. Global Protection Cluster. <u>https://data2.unhcr.org/en/ documents/details/83365</u>
- Gordon, M., Burgess, M., Sulaiman, M., Mila Arlini, S., Ritz, D., & O'Hare, G. (2020). The hidden impact of COVID-19 on children's education. Save the Children. <u>https://</u> <u>resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/hidden-impact-covid-19-children-</u> <u>global-research-series#:~:text=November%202015-.The%20Hidden%20</u> <u>Impact%20of%20Covid%2D19.Children%3A%20A%20Global%20Research%20</u> <u>Series&text=Globally%2C%20more%20than%208%20in,teachers%20since%20</u> <u>their%20schools%20closed</u>
- Gouvernement RDC. (2020). Impact sanitaire et socioéconomique de la Covid-19 en République Démocratique du Congo. Analyse prospective et orientation de la riposte multisectorielle. Gouvernement RDC.
- Grierson, J. (2020, April 2). Coronavirus lockdown raises risk of online child abuse, charity says. The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/02/coronavirus-lockdown-raises-risk-of-online-child-abuse-charity-says</u>
- Haddad, G., Al Assi, Y., & Moodley, S. (Eds.). (2020). Taking on the triple crisis: Civil society perspectives on supporting Lebanon in its response to the concurrent Syria, economic and health crises [Joint Civil Society Report for Brussels IV Conference on the Future of Syria and the Region]. <u>http://www.lhif.org/</u>
- Hallgarten, J. (2020). Evidence on efforts to mitigate the negative educational impact of past disease outbreaks. Education Development Trust & UK DfID/K4D. <u>https://www.gov.uk/research-for-development-outputs/evidence-on-efforts-to-mitigate-the-negative-educational-impact-of-past-disease-outbreaks</u>
- Hikmah, N. (2020). Rapid behavioural and sentiment assessment. UNICEF-ROSA. <u>https://www.unicef.org/rosa/media/9236/file</u>
- HRW. (2018). Leave no girl behind in Africa: Discrimination in education against pregnant girls and adolescent mothers. HRW. <u>https://www.hrw.org/report/2018/06/14/leave-no-girl-behind-africa/discrimination-education-against-pregnant-girls-and</u>
- HRW. (2020a, January 27). "As long as we live on the streets, they will beat us": Rwanda's abusive detention of children. HRW. <u>https://www.hrw.org/report/2020/01/27/long-we-live-streets-they-will-beat-us/rwandas-abusive-detention-children</u>
- HRW. (2020b, July 26). Impact of Covid-19 on children's education in Africa. HRW. <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/08/26/impact-covid-19-childrens-education-africa#\_edn2</u>

- HRW. (2020c, September 8). Les attaques contre les élèves, les enseignants et les écoles se multiplient dans le Sahel africain. ReliefWeb. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/burkina-faso/les-attaques-contre-les-l-ves-les-enseignants-et-les-coles-se-multiplient-dans</u>
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Jones, L., Wood, S., Bates, G., Eckley, L., McCoy, E., Mickton, C., Shakespeare, T., & Officer, A. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence against adults with disabilities: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. The Lancet, 379(9826), 1621-1629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61851-5</u>
- Humanity & Inclusion. (2020a, December 4). Les personnes handicapées, les laisséspour-compte de l'épidémie de Covid-19. ReliefWeb. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/world/</u> <u>les-personnes-handicap-es-les-laiss-s-pour-compte-de-l-pid-mie-de-covid-19</u>
- Humanity & Inclusion. (2020b). Protecting children with disabilities during the Ebola crisis. Humanity & Inclusion. <u>https://www.hi-us.org/protecting\_children\_with\_disabilities\_during\_the\_ebola\_crisis</u>
- International Bar Association's Human Rights Institute. (2020). LGBTQI+ rights. Covid-19 Human Rights Monitor, 2. International Bar Association's Human Rights Institute. <u>https://www.ibanet.org/Human\_Rights\_Institute/Bulletins/2.aspx</u>
- ICI Foundation. (2020, July 1). Hazardous child labour in Côte d'Ivoire's cocoa communities during COVID-19. ICI Foundation. <u>https://cocoainitiative.org/news-media-post/</u> hazardous-child-labour-in-cote-divoires-cocoa-communities-during-covid-19/
- ILGA Europe. (2020). COVID-19 and specific impact on LGBTI people and what authorities should do to mitigate impact. ILGA Europe. <u>https://www.ilga-europe.org/</u> <u>sites/default/files/COVID19\_Impact LGBTI people.pdf</u>
- Iliza, A. (2020, April 18). Domestic violence rises during COVID-19 lockdown. The New Times. <u>https://www.newtimes.co.rw/news/domestic-violence-rises-during-covid-19-lockdown</u>
- ILO. (n.d.). What is child labour? International Programme on the Elimination of Child Labour. <u>https://www.ilo.org/ipec/facts/lang--en/index.htm</u>
- ILO. (2016). Child labour in Sri Lanka—At a glance. ILO Country Office for Sri Lanka and the Maldives. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---</u>ilo-colombo/documents/publication/wcms\_616216.pdf
- ILO. (2020a). COVID-19 crisis and the informal economy: Immediate responses and policy challenges. ILO. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_protect/---</u>protrav/---travail/documents/briefingnote/wcms\_743623.pdf
- ILO. (2020b). El impacto del COVID-19 en el trabajo infantil y el trabajo forzoso: La respuesta del Programa de referencia IPEC+. ILO. <u>www.globalprotectioncluster.org/</u> <u>wp-content/uploads/GPC-Task-Team-on-Anti-Trafficking\_COVID-guidance\_final\_</u> <u>SM.pdf</u>
- ILO. (2020c, April 29). ILO monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work (3rd ed.). ILO. <u>https://gisanddata.maps.arcgis.com/apps/opsdashboard/index.html#/</u> <u>bda7594740fd40299423467b48e9ecf6</u>

- ILO & UNICEF. (2020). COVID-19 and child labour: A time of crisis, a time to act. UNICEF & ILO. <u>https://www.ilo.org/ipec/Informationresources/WCMS\_747421/lang--en/ index.htm</u>
- INEE. (2010). Minimum standards for education: Preparedness, response, recovery. INEE. <u>https://inee.org/system/files/resources/INEE\_Minimum\_Standards\_</u> <u>Handbook\_2010%28HSP%29\_EN.pdf</u>
- INEE. (2016). INEE background paper on psychosocial support and social and emotional learning for children and youth in emergency settings. INEE. <u>https://inee.org/system/</u> files/resources/INEE\_PSS-SEL\_Background\_Paper\_ENG\_v5.3.pdf
- INEE. (2020a). 20 years of INEE: Achievements and challenges in education in emergencies. INEE. <u>https://inee.org/resources/20-years-of-inee</u>
- INEE. (2020b, April). Technical note: Education during the COVID-19 pandemic (Version 1, April 2020). INEE. <u>https://inee.org/system/files/resources/INEE Technical Note on COVID-19 EN 2020-04-23.pdf</u>
- INEE & ACPHA. (2020). Weighing up the risks: School closure and reopening under COVID—When, why, and what impact. INEE & ACPHA. <u>https://inee.org/resources/</u>weighing-risks-school-closure-and-reopening-under-covid-19
- IRC. (2020a, May 7). New data shows a decrease in women being able to report incidents of domestic violence in fragile and conflict-affected countries. IRC. <u>https:// www.rescue.org/press-release/new-data-shows-decrease-women-being-ablereport-incidents-domestic-violence-fragile</u>
- IRC. (2020b, August 24). New IRC report: More than 300,000 Rohingya refugee children need internet access for remote learning during COVID-19 pandemic. IRC. <u>https://www.rescue.org/press-release/new-irc-report-more-300000-rohingyarefugee-children-need-internet-access-remote</u>
- Kamali, M., Munyuzangabo, M., Siddiqui, F. J., Gaffey, M. F., Meteke, S., Als, D., Jain, R. P., Radhakrishnan, A., Shah, S., Ataullahjan, A., & Bhutta, A. (2020). Delivering mental health and psychosocial support interventions to women and children in conflict settings: a systematic review. BMJ Global Health, 5(e002014). <u>https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-002014</u>
- Kapur, N. (2020a). School closures in the context of COVID-19: An inequity impact assessment of Primary 2 and 3 pupils in Rwanda. Building Learning Foundations Rwanda.
- Kapur, N. (2020b). The gendered dimensions of armed conflict on children in Sub-Saharan Africa. Save the Children.
- Karasapan, O. (2020, Nov. 11). Yemen's children: A crisis within a crisis. Future Development. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2020/11/19/</u> <u>yemens-children-a-crisis-within-a-crisis/</u>
- Kelly, A. (2018, October 8). British paedophiles target children in poor countries for online abuse. The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/global-</u> <u>development/2018/oct/08/british-paedophiles-target-children-poor-countries-</u> <u>online-abuse-national-crime-agency</u>

- Lee, J. (2020). Mental health effects of school closures during COVID-19. The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health, 4(6), e16. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-4642(20)30109-7</u>
- Loperfido, L., & Burgess, M. (2020). The hidden impact of COVID-19 on child poverty. Save the Children. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/hidden-impact-covid-19-children-global-research-series</u>
- Mac-Seing, V. M., & Boggs, D. (2014). Triple discrimination against women and girls with disability. MMS Bulletin, 130(October). <u>https://plone.medicusmundi.ch/en/</u> <u>bulletin/mms-bulletin/addressing-sexual-violence-and-hiv/adressing-gender-based-</u> <u>violence/triple-discrimination-against-women-and-girls-with-disability</u>
- Mahthabi, A. (2020, May 17). تينورت لا الفريغ" نم كسفن يمحت فيك :انوروك سوريف. "ينورت كلا فنع" نم كسفن يمحت فيك :انوروك سوريف. [CoronaVirus: How do you protect yourself from online violence, sexual blackmail in the context of lockdown and self-isolation]. BBC News تيبرع https://www.bbc.com/arabic/trending-52691248
- Malala Fund. (2020). Girls' education and COVID-19: What past shocks can teach us about mitigating the impact of pandemics. Malala Fund. <u>https://downloads.ctfassets.</u> <u>net/0oan5gk9rgbh/6TMYLYAcUpjhQpXLDgmdla/3e1c12d8d827985ef2b4e815a3a6da1f/</u> <u>COVID19\_GirlsEducation\_corrected\_071420.pdf</u>
- Masheka, P. C. (2020, June 12). Il faut s'attaquer aux causes des mariages précoces : L'inégalité des sexes, la pauvreté, les coutumes et les grossesses précoces. Banque Mondiale Blogs. <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/fr/youth-transforming-africa/il-faut-</u> <u>sattaquer-aux-causes-des-mariages-precoces-linegalite-des-sexes</u>
- Matrins, V. J. B., Toledo Florêncio, T. M. M., Grillo, L. P., Franco, M. do C. P., Martins, P. A., Clemente, A. P. G., Santos, C. D. L., Viera, M. F. A., & Sawaya, A. L. (2011). Long-lasting effects of undernutrition. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 8(6), 1817-1846. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph8061817</u>
- Mattingly, J. (2017). Approaches to providing psycho-social support for children, teachers and other school staff, and social and emotional learning for children in protracted conflict situations. UK DfID/K4D Helpdesk. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/syrian-arabrepublic/approaches-providing-psycho-social-support-children-teachers-and-other</u>
- McClain-Nhlapo, C. (2020, May 11). An inclusive response to COVID-19: Education for children with disabilities. Global Partnership for Education Blog. <u>https://www.globalpartnership.org/blog/inclusive-response-covid-19-education-children-disabilities</u>
- McVeigh, K. (2019, September 5). Bangladesh imposes mobile phone blackout in Rohingya refugee camps. The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/globaldevelopment/2019/sep/05/bangladesh-imposes-mobile-phone-blackout-inrohingya-refugee-camps</u>
- MINEDUC. (2008). Girls' education policy. Ministry of Education, Republic of Rwanda.
- Ministry of Education. (2020). Keeping the doors open for learning: Response plan of Ministry of Education to the COVID-19 outbreak. Ministry of Education, Republic of Rwanda. <u>https://www.mineduc.gov.rw/fileadmin/user\_upload/Mineduc/Publications/</u> <u>REPORTS/Education\_Sector\_COVID\_Plan\_Rwanda.pdf</u>

- Ministry of Education Sri Lanka & UNICEF. (2020). COVID-19 education fact-finding rapid assessment. Ministry of Education Sri Lanka & UNICEF.
- Mishra, S., Brossard, M., Reuge, N., & Mizunoya, S. (2020, April 20). How involved are parents in their children's learning? MICS6 data reveal critical insights. UNICEF: Evidence for action. <u>https://blogs.unicef.org/evidence-for-action/parental-involvement-childrens-learning/</u>
- Mitra, A., & Rao, N. (2017). Gender differences in adolescent nutrition: Evidence from two Indian districts (Working papers, Vol. 2017, No. 13). Lansa. <u>www.</u> lansasouthasia.org
- Mokwetsi, J. (2020, September 3). Radio lessons provide much needed continuity in learning amid the Covid-19 pandemic. UNICEF Zimbabwe. <u>https://www.unicef.org/zimbabwe/stories/radio-lessons-provide-needed-continuity-learning-amid-covid-19-pandemic</u>
- Notimérica. (2020, June 1). Coronavirus: La Defensoría del Pueblo de Colombia alerta del riesgo de reclutamiento de menores durante la pandemia. Notimérica. <u>https://www.notimerica.com/politica/noticia-coronavirus-defensoria-pueblo-colombia-alerta-riesgo-reclutamiento-menores-pandemia-20200601183336.html</u>
- NRC. (2020). Downward Spiral: The economic impact of COVID-19 on refugees and displaced people. NRC. <u>https://www.nrc.no/resources/reports/downward-spiral-the-economic-impact-of-covid-19-on-refugees-and-displaced-people/</u>
- OEAC-CIM. (2020). COVID-19 en la vida de las mujeres. Secretaría General de la Organización de los Estados Americanos (SG/OEA). <u>http://www.oas.org/cim</u>
- OECD. (2020, August 11). Combatting COVID-19's effect on children. OECD Policy Responses to Coronavirus (COVID-19). <u>http://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/combatting-covid-19-s-effect-on-children-2e1f3b2f/</u>
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. (2020). COVID-19 and the human rights of LGBTI people. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. <u>https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/LGBT/ LGBTIpeople.pdf</u>
- Peterman, A., & O'Donnell, M. (2020). COVID-19 and violence against women and children: A second research round up. Center for Global Development. <u>https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/covid-19-and-violence-against-women-and-children-second-research-round.pdf</u>
- Phakathi, M. (2020, August 19). Report shows Sri Lanka has escalation of violence during COVID-19 lockdown. Inter Press Service. <u>http://www.ipsnews.net/2020/08/</u> <u>report-shows-sri-lanka-escalation-violence-covid-19-lockdown/</u>
- Plan International. (2017). Reintegrating girls and boys formerly associated with armed forces and armed groups: A case study from Central African Republic (CAR). Plan International. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/node/13869/pdf/reintegrating\_children\_from\_armed\_forces\_and\_groups\_in\_car.pdf</u>
- Plan International Lebanon. (2020). COVID-19 and child labour in Lebanon. Plan International Lebanon. <u>https://plan-international.org/publications/covid-19-and-</u> <u>child-labour-lebanon</u>

- ¿Quién es el responsable del aumento de reclutamiento de menores en 2020? (2020, November 22). Semana. <u>https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/quien-es-el-</u> <u>responsable-del-aumento-de-reclutamiento-de-menores-en-2020/202025/</u>
- Quintero Rivera, J. J. (2020). El efecto del COVID-19 en la economía y la educación: Estrategias para la educación virtual de Colombia. Revista Scientific, 5(17), 280-291. https://doi.org/10.29394/scientific.issn.2542-2987.2020.5.17.15.280-291
- ReliefWeb. (2020, September 15). Burkina Faso: Conflit armé, COVID-19, inondations, une triple crise frappe les habitants. ReliefWeb. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/burkina-faso/burkina-faso-conflit-arm-covid-19-inondations-une-triple-crise-frappe-les</u>
- Risso-Gill, I., & Finnegan, L. (2015). Children's Ebola recovery assessment: Sierra Leone. Save the Children. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/childrens-</u> <u>ebola-recovery-assessment-sierra-leone</u>
- Ritz, D., O'Hare, G., Burgess, M., Sulaiman, M., & Mila Arlini, S. (2020). The hidden impact of COVID-19 on child protection and well-being. Save the Children. <u>https://</u> resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/hidden-impact-covid-19-childrenglobal-research-series#:~:text=November%202015-,The%20Hidden%20 Impact%20of%20Covid%2D19,Children%3A%20A%20Global%20Research%20 Series&text=Globally%2C%20more%20than%208%20in,teachers%20since%20 their%20schools%20closed
- Rodríguez Pinzón, E. (2020). Colombia impacto económico, social, y politíco de la COVID-19. Fundación Carolina. <u>https://www.fundacioncarolina.es/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/AC-24.-2020.pdf</u>
- Rothe, D. (2014, Dec. 12). Young lives on lockdown: The impact of Ebola on children and communities in Liberia (Interim report, 12 December 2014). Plan International. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/node/8708/pdf/ih-liberia\_ebola\_interim\_report-final-io-eng-dec14\_1.pdf</u>
- Santos, R., & Novelli, M. (2017). The effect of the Ebola crisis on the education system's Contribution to post-conflict sustainable peacebuilding in Liberia. UNICEF/Research Consortium on Education and Peacebuilding. <u>http://education4resilience.iiep.unesco.org/en/node/1218</u>
- Save the Children. (2008). Child protection training manual: Facilitator's guide for teacher training.Save the Children UK. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/child-protection-training-manual-facilitators-guide-teacher-training</u>
- Save the Children. (2018). Psychosocial well-being and socio-emotional learning in the Syrian refugee response: Challenges and opportunities. Save the Children. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/node/15500/pdf/psychosocial\_well-being\_pr4.pdf</u>
- Save the Children. (2020a). Beyond the shadow pandemic: Protecting a generation of girls from gender-based violence through COVID-19 to recovery. Save the Children. <u>https://</u> <u>resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/beyond-shadow-pandemic-protecting-</u> <u>generation-girls-gender-based-violence-through-covid-19#:~:text=November%20</u> <u>2015-,Beyond%20the%20Shadow%20Pandemic%3A%20Protecting%20</u> <u>a%20generation%20of%20girls%20from,through%20COVID%2D19%20to%20</u> <u>recovery&text=COVID%2D19%20is%20exposing%20and,%2Dbased%20violence-</u> %20(GBV)

- Save the Children. (2020b). L'impact de la COVID-19 & Ebola chez les enfants en RD. Congo: Rapport d'enquete. Save the Children International. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/limpact-de-la-covid-19-et-ebola-chez-les-enfants-en-republique-democratique-du-congo</u>
- Save the Children. (2020c). Les impacts de la COVID-19 sur les enfants Africains: Comment proteger une generation en danger, Rapport Pan-Africain. Save the Children. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/node/17694/pdf/rapport\_panafricain\_juin\_2020\_-\_finale.pdf</u>
- Save the Children. (2020d). The global girlhood report: How COVID-19 is putting progress in peril. Save the Children. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/node/18201/</u> pdf/global\_girlhood\_report\_2020\_africa\_version\_2.pdf
- Save the Children. (2020e). View from the lockdown: Children and youth's experience of COVID-19 in Lebanon. Save the Children International. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/view-lockdown-children-and-youths-experience-covid-19-lebanon</u>
- Save the Children. (2020f, June 23). Spike in violence against Venezuelan children during COVID-19. Save the Children. <u>https://www.savethechildren.org.uk/news/media-centre/press-releases/violence-against-venezuelan-children-during-covid-19</u>
- Save the Children. (2020g, July 13). Almost 10 million children may not return to school following COVID-19. Save the Children. <u>https://www.savethechildren.org.uk/news/</u><u>media-centre/press-releases/Savethechildrenreportglobaleducationemergency</u>
- Sidebotham, E., Moffatt, J., & Jones, K. (2016). Sexual violence in conflict: a global epidemic. The Obstetrician & Gynaecologist, 18(4), 247-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tog.12314</u>
- Smith, W. C. (2020). Potential long-term consequences of school closures: Lessons from the 2013-2016 Ebola pandemic [Unpublished manuscript]. Research Square. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-51400/v1</u>
- Sprang, G., & Silman, M. (2020). Posttraumatic stress disorder in parents and youth after health-related disasters. Public Health Preparedness, 7, 105-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2013.22</u>
- Street Child. (2020). Diagnostic préliminaire de l'impact de la pandémie Covid-19 sur les enfants: ZS Santé Uvira et Ruzizi. Street Child.
- Suárez, A., & Dario, R. (2020). La educación digital en Colombia en tiempos de Covid 19 y su impacto en las organizaciones educativas. Universidad Militar Nueva Granada. https://repository.unimilitar.edu.co/handle/10654/36658
- Taylor, L. (2020, September 10). How Colombia's armed groups are exploiting COVID-19 to recruit children. The New Humanitarian. <u>https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/news-feature/2020/09/10/Colombia-conflict-armed-groups-child-recruitment</u>
- Tegal, E., & Galappatti, A. (2020, April 15). Unsafe homes: Sri Lanka's COVID-19 response must address violence towards women and children. Medium. <u>https://medium.com/@agalappatti/unsafe-homes-sri-lankas-covid-19-response-must-address-violence-towards-women-and-children-af721a3391a</u>

- Terres des Hommes Italy. (2020). Beirut City: Child protection and psychosocial needs assessment report. Terres des Hommes.
- The Lancet Infectious Diseases. (2020). The intersection of COVID-19 and mental health. The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 20(11), 1217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30797-0</u>
- UN. (2020, July 14). Increased attacks against community leaders, human rights defenders pose gravest threat to Colombia peace process, special representative warns Security Council. United Nations: Meetings Coverage. <u>https://www.un.org/press/en/2020/sc14252.doc.htm</u>
- UN News. (2020, July 21). COVID-19 scapegoating triggers fresh displacement in Yemen, warns migration agency. UN News. <u>https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/07/1068731</u>
- UN Women. (2020). 2020 Beirut Port explosion response plan. UN Women. <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/8/news-un-women-and-partners-provide-relief-after-beirut-blasts</u>
- UNDP. (2015). Sustainable development goals. UNDP.
- UNESCO. (2009). Stopping violence in schools: A guide for teachers. UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000184162</u>
- UNESCO. (2017). Global education monitoring report 2017/18. UNESCO. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004</u>
- UNESCO. (2020a). Adverse consequences of school closures. UNESCO. <u>https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse/consequences#:~:text=Increased%20exposure%20</u> to%20violence%20and.common%2C%20and%20child%20labour%20grows
- UNESCO. (2020b). Aportes para una respuesta educativa frente al COVID-19 en América Latina: análisis desde la evidencia del Laboratorio Latinoamericano de Evaluación de la Calidad de la Educación (LLECE) [UNESCO Digital Library]. UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc. unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373761?posInSet=1&queryId=98535caa-b102-43af-9e8b-241f90d6a1cd</u>
- UNESCO. (2020c). Global education monitoring report: Inclusion and education. UNESCO. http://bit.ly/2020gemreport
- UNESCO. (2020d). Sistemas educativos de América Latina en respuesta a la Covid-19: Continuidad educativa y evaluación. UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/</u> <u>pf0000374018</u>
- UNESCO. (2020e, February 28). The Congo literacy project [The Democratic Republic of Congo]. UNESCO. <u>https://uil.unesco.org/case-study/effective-practices-database-litbase-0/congo-literacy-project-democratic-republic-congo</u>
- UNESCO. (2020f). Global Education Coalition for COVID-19 response: #LearningNeverStops. UNESCO. <u>https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse/globalcoalition</u>
- UNESCO. (2020g, May 23). The right to education of Venezuelan migrant and refugee children and adolescents: Multidimensional risks and exacerbation of vulnerabilities during the pandemic. UNESCO. <u>https://en.unesco.org/news/right-education-venezuelan-migrant-and-refugee-children-and-adolescents-multidimensional-risks</u>

- UNESCO. (2020h, May 25). Significant efforts by Colombia ensure that nearly 200,000 Venezuelan children and youth have access to the educational system. UNESCO. <u>https://en.unesco.org/news/significant-efforts-colombia-ensure-nearly-200000-venezuelan-children-and-youth-have-access</u>
- UNESCO. (2020i, August 13). Schools reopen with safety measures in Sri Lanka. UNESCO. <u>https://en.unesco.org/news/schools-reopen-safety-measures-sri-lanka</u>
- UNESCO. (2020j, September 6). COVID-19 and youth: A virtual South Asian Youth Summit organized in Nepal. UNESCO. <u>https://en.unesco.org/news/covid-19-and-youth-virtual-south-asian-youth-summit-organized-nepal</u>
- UNESCO, UNICEF, & World Bank. (2020). What have we learnt? Overview of findings from a survey of ministries of education on national responses to COVID-19. UNESCO, UNICEF, & World Bank. <u>http://www.unesco.org/open-access/terms-use-ccbysa-en</u>
- UNHCR. (2020, December 1). Augmentation du trafic d'enfants au Mali en raison du conflit et de la pandémie de Covid-19–Mali. ReliefWeb. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/mali/augmentation-du-trafic-d-enfants-au-mali-en-raison-du-conflit-et-de-la-pand-mie-de-covid</u>
- UNHCR Rwanda. (2017). UNHCR Rwanda: Participatory assessment 2017. UNHCR Rwanda.
- UNICEF. (2008). UNICEF programme for the reintegration of children associated with armed forces and armed groups in Nepal: Evaluation report May 2008. UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/evaldatabase/files/Nepal\_2008-008\_-\_CAAFAG\_ Evaluation\_report\_\_2008.pdf
- UNICEF. (2019). Rwanda: Humanitarian situation report, January-December 2019. UNICEF Situation Report. <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/75306/file/Rwanda-SitRep-Ebola-Refugee-Response-Dec-2019.pdf</u>
- UNICEF. (2020a). A generation to protect: Monitoring violence, exploitation and abuse of children within the SDG framework. UNICEF. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/world/generation-protect-monitoring-violence-exploitation-and-abuse-children-within-sdg</u>
- UNICEF. (2020b). DRC's ministry of primary, secondary and technical education launches distance education via radio, with the support of UNICEF. UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/drcongo/en/press-releases/drcs-ministry-primary-secondary-and-technical-education-launches-distance-education</u>
- UNICEF. (2020c). Education: Every child has the right to go to school and learn. UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/drcongo/en/what-we-do/education
- UNICEF. (2020d). Lives upended: How COVID-19 threatens the futures of 600 million South Asian children. UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/srilanka/sites/unicef.org.</u> <u>srilanka/files/2020-06/UNICEF Upended Lives Report.pdf</u>
- UNICEF. (2020e). Protecting children from violence in the time of COVID-19: Disruptions in prevention and response services. UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/reports/protecting-children-from-violence-covid-19-disruptions-in-prevention-and-response-services-2020</u>

- UNICEF. (2020f). Rwanda: COVID-19 situation overview No. 5 (1 August to 30 September 2020). UNICEF. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/rwanda/unicef-rwandacovid-19-situation-report-no-5-1-august-30-september-2020</u>
- UNICEF. (2020g, April 30). UNICEF prints first children workbooks for distance learning in DR Congo. UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/drcongo/en/press-</u> releases/unicef-prints-first-children-workbooks-distance-learning-dr-congo
- UNICEF. (2020h, September 17). Lebanon: Situation overview & humanitarian needs (17 September 2020). UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/documents/lebanon-humanitarian-situation-report-17-september-2020</u>
- UNICEF Lebanon. (2020). "Everything around me is in ruins." Impact of August 4 explosions on children and families in Beirut, one month on. UNICEF Lebanon. https://reliefweb.int/report/lebanon/everything-around-me-ruins-impact-august-4-explosions-children-and-families-beirut
- United Nations Rwanda. (2020a). The socio-economic impact of COVID-19 in Rwanda. United Nations Rwanda. <u>https://www.undp.org/content/dam/rba/docs/</u> <u>COVID-19-CO-Response/UNDP-rba-COVID-assessment-Rwanda.pdf</u>
- United Nations Rwanda. (2020b, January 10). Tackling teenage pregnancy in Rwanda with youth-led innovation. UN Rwanda Stories. <u>https://rwanda.un.org/</u> <u>en/31433-tackling-teenage-pregnancy-rwanda-youth-led-innovation</u>
- Universidad de los Andes. (2020, August 31). Cierre de colegios: Rezago escolar y riesgo de deserción. Universidad de los Andes. <u>https://uniandes.edu.co/es/noticias/economia-y-negocios/efectos-cierre-de-colegios-por-pandemia</u>
- UNOCHA. (2020). Colombia: Impacto humanitario por el COVID-19. Informe de Situación No. 15 (28/10/2020). UNOCHA. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/colombia/</u> <u>colombia-impacto-humanitario-por-el-covid-19-informe-de-situaci-n-</u> <u>no-15-28102020</u>
- USAID. (2020). USAID/DRC COVID-specific gender analysis. USAID. <u>https://</u> banyanglobal.com/resource/usaid-drc-covid-specific-gender-analysis/
- Viamo. (2020). Mesure des impacts de COVID-19 sur les perturbations scolaires. Viamo. <u>https://viamo.io/fr/newsletter-archives-fr/covid19-survey-school-disruption/</u>
- Vivanco, J. M. (2020, May 11). Colombia should protect displaced people during Covid-19. Human Rights Watch. <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/05/11/</u> <u>colombia-should-protect-displaced-people-during-covid-19</u>
- Wang, G., Zhang, Y., Zhao, J., Zhang, J., & Jiang, F. (2020, March 21). Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. The Lancet, 395(10228), 945-947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30547-X</u>
- WFP. (2018, January 11). Food rations for refugees in Rwanda are reduced amidst funding shortfalls. WFP. <u>https://www.wfp.org/news/food-rations-refugees-rwanda-are-reduced-amidst-funding-shortfalls</u>
- WFP. (2020a). Rwanda. WFP. https://www.wfp.org/countries/rwanda

- WFP. (2020b). WFP school feeding strategy 2020-2030: A chance for every schoolchild. WFP. <u>https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000112101/download/?</u> ga=2.41270950.54929861.1606125924-363404941.1606125924
- WFP. (2020c, June). WFP Rwanda country brief: June 2020. WFP. <u>https://reliefweb.int/</u> <u>sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/WFP-0000118219.pdf</u>
- WFP. (2020d, November 23). Global monitoring of school meals during COVID-19 school closures. WFP. <u>https://cdn.wfp.org/2020/school-feeding-map/index.html</u>
- WHO/UNICEF. (2020). Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene in schools: Special focus on COVID-19. WHO/UNICEF. <u>https://data.unicef.org/resources/progress-on-drinking-water-sanitation-and-hygiene-in-schools-special-focus-on-covid-19/</u>
- World Bank. (2020a). Impactos de la crisis del COVID-19. World Bank. <u>http://pubdocs.</u> worldbank.org/en/641601599665038137/Colombia-COVID-education-final.pdf
- World Bank. (2020b). Note d'orientation sur la riposte des systems educatifs au COVID19. World Bank. <u>http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/862901586546293432/</u> <u>Guidance-Note-on-Education-Systems-Response-to-COVID19.pdf</u>
- World Bank. (2020c). Pivoting to inclusion: Leveraging lessons from the COVID-19 crisis for learners with disabilities. World Bank. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/</u> <u>disability/publication/pivoting-to-inclusion-leveraging-lessons-from-the-c-ovid-19-</u> <u>crisis-for-learners-with-disabilities</u>
- World Vision. (2020a, August 14). Children at an increased risk of exploitation in the DRC's complex context during the pandemic. World Vision. <u>https://www.wvi.org/stories/</u> <u>congo/children-increased-risk-exploitation-drcs-complex-context-during-pandemic</u>
- World Vision. (2020b). COVID-19 aftershocks: Access denied. Teenage pregnancy threatens to block a million girls across sub-Saharan African from returning to school. World Vision International. <u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/2020-08-21- Aftershocks Education final2\_3.pdf</u>
- World Vision. (2020c, July 13). COVID-19 aftershocks: Teenage pregnancy on the rise in refugee settlements. World Vision. <u>https://www.wvi.org/stories/uganda/covid-19-aftershocks-teenage-pregnancy-rise-refugee-settlements</u>
- World Vision Lanka. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 health emergency: Rapid assessment. World Vision International.
- Zubairi, A., & Rose, P. (2017) Bright and early: How financing pre-primary education gives every child a fair start in life Moving towards quality early childhood development for all. Theirworld. <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/theirworld-site-resources/Reports/</u><u>Theirworld-Report-Bright-and-Early-June-2017</u>.





Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies